Division of Pharmaceutical Biology Faculty of Pharmacy University of Helsinki

Plant secondary metabolites in *Peucedanum palustre* and *Angelica archangelica* and their plant cell cultures

Manu Juho Mikael Eeva

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Pharmacy of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in Auditorium LS.2 (A109) (Latokartanonkaari 7 – Building B) on May 21th, 2010, at 12 o'clock noon.

HELSINKI 2010

Supervisors	Prof. Heikki Vuorela Ph. D. (Pharm.)		
	Division of Pharmaceutical Biology		
	Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki, Finland		
	Prof. Pia Vuorela Ph. D. (Pharm.)		
	Pharmaceutical Sciences		
	Åbo Akademi University, Turku, Finland		
	Prof. Raimo Hiltunen Ph. D. (Pharm.)		
	Division of Pharmaceutical Biology		
	Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki, Finland		
Reviewers	Prof. Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto Ph. D.		
	Department of Biology		
	University of Eastern Finland, Finland		
	Prof. Juha-Pekka Salminen Ph. D.		
	Department of Chemistry		
	University of Turku, Finland		
Opponent	Prof. Elín Soffía Ólafsdóttir Ph. D. (Pharm.)		
	Faculty of Pharmacetical Sciences		
	School of Health Sciences		
	University of Iceland, Iceland		
ISBN: 978-95	52-10-6186-8 (paperback)		
ISSN 1795-70	079		

http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/

ISBN 978-952-10-6187-5 (PDF)

Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2010

CONTENTS

1	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
2	ABSTRACT	7
3	LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	8
4	ABBREVIATIONS	9
5	INTRODUCTION	10
6	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
6.1	Botany and distribution of A. archangelica and P. palustre	12
6.2	Ethnobotany of A. archangelica and P. palustre	14
6.3	Phytochemistry and analytics of coumarins	15
6.4	Pharmacology of coumarins	21
6.5	The role of coumarins in plants	26
6.6	Somatic embryogenesis	32
7	AIMS OF THE STUDY	37
8	EXPERIMENTAL	38
8.1	Chemicals	38
8.2	Sample preparation	38
8.3	Chromatographic analysis	38
8.4	Plant cell cultures in the growing experiments (III)	39
8.5 8 8	Optimisation design for plant cell cultures (IV)5.5.1Mixture design and regression models5.5.2Desirability functions	41 41 42
8.6	Statistical analysis	42
9	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	43
9.1 9	HPLC method development 0.1.1 <i>P. palustre</i>	43 45

9.1.2	A. archangelica	48
9.2 (Coumarin composition of Finnish <i>P. palustre</i>	48
9.2.1	Correlations between plant organs	51
9.2.2	Correlations with the effective temperature sum	51
9.2.3	Cluster analysis	52
9.3 S	omatic embryogenesis and propagation	53
9.3.1	Selection of carbon source	53
9.3.2	Propagation studies	54
9.4 (CELLOP and optimisation of the growing conditions	56
9.4.1	Development of the experimental design	57
10 (CONCLUSIONS	60
11 F	REFERENCES	61

1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The study was performed at the Division of Pharmacognosy, Department of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki, during the years 1995 – 2001.

My sincerest gratitude goes to Professors Pia Vuorela and Heikki Vuorela for accepting me as their PhD student, as well as for their never-failing patient guidance during all these years. Their ideas and advice have been invaluable to me. I also wish to express my gratitude to Professor Raimo Hiltunen, Head of the Pharmaceutical Biology Division, for his support and for providing the facilities for my work.

I express my earnest thanks to all my colleagues at the Division of Pharmacognosy and Division of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, University of Helsinki, for the encouraging and pleasant working atmosphere. Special thanks go to Dr. Tiina Ojala, Docent Dr. Päivi Tammela, Dr. Jari Summanen, Dr. Teijo Yrjönen, Mr Samuli Ojala M. Sci. Pharm., and Dr. Tero Wennberg. The years I spent with you were unforgettable.

I want to thank my "*fratres in pharmacia*" Drs Jussi-Pekka Rauha and Jukka-Pekka Salo for their most invigorating scientific as well as less scientific collegiality.

Professors Riitta Julkunen-Tiitto and Juha-Pekka Salminen are greatly acknowledged for their constructive criticism and suggestions that helped me to improve my "*magnum opus*". Warm thanks are due to Dr. John Derome for revising the language of the publications as well as of the thesis.

Special thanks go to Ms Tarja Hiltunen for her excellent technical assistance, as well as to Ms Tiia Metiäinen and Petteri Heljo M. Sci. Pharm. for their great assistance in reference hunting.

I am most grateful to my pharmaceutical godmothers Prof. emerita, Dr. rer. nat. Seija Tammilehto and Dr. Hannele Salomies for accecpting me as an unofficial godson of the Divison of Pharmaceutical Chemistry and letting me be a part of the most stimulating and friendly scientific atmosphere.

I am extremely grateful to Ms Eeva Kölli-Jäntti M.Sci. Pharm., my friend and pharmaceutical Maecenas, for keeping me alive by letting me work in her pharmacy in the difficult years when financial support was not available.

I wish to thank my godchildren Maiju Hautala, Helmi Karonen, Sakari Kivimaa, and Helena Rauha and their parents and all my other friends for keeping me in touch with reality. Brothers Jukka Hautala Lic. Theol. and Petri Hautala M. Theol. are especially acknowledged for all the "*cura pastoralis*" we have had during the years.

I wish to thank my dear colleagues at ratiopharm especially at the Nordic and Baltic regulatory affairs and business development department for your great understanding. Some of you have been obliged to listen to me talking about my thesis for almost 14 years.

This study was partially financed by the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation, the Finnish Cultural Foundation (Elli Turusen rahasto), the Society of Pharmaceutical Sciences in Finland, and Farmasian opettajien ja tutkijoiden yhdistys r.y., and the University Pharmacy, all of which are gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, my most cordial thanks are due to my family – parents Raili and Aarne and sister Maria Eeva - for their incessant understanding and support during all these years. I owe everything to you!

Конеця , н бтв слава

2 ABSTRACT

A reversed-phase, high-performance liquid chromatographic method (RP-HPLC) with atmospheric pressure chemical ionisation mass spectrometry (APCI-MS) detection was developed utilising Turbo Method Development[®] and DryLab[®] programmes for the separation and identification of coumarins in *Peucedanum palustre* L. (Moench) and *Angelica archangelica* (L.) var. *archangelica*. Fifteen coumarins were identified both in *P. palustre* and in *A. archangelica*. This is the first report on the xanthotoxin, isopimpinellin, pimpinellin, and coumarin composition of the umbels of *P. palustre*.

The coumarin composition of Finnish *P. palustre* populations was analyzed and verified chromatographically. The main coumarin in roots was oxypeucedanin, and in aerial parts peulustrin/isopeulustrin. The highly varying total coumarin concentration was the highest in umbels and the lowest in stems. Leaves and roots contained comparable amounts of coumarins. The total coumarin concentration decreased towards the north. As regards the aerial parts, the coumarin content of the umbels and leaves resembled each other the most. The effective temperature sum clearly correlated with the coumarin concentrations of the aerial parts, but not with the roots of the plant. The study did not support the existence of chemotypes in Finnish *P. palustre* populations.

A spontaneously embryogenic cell line of *A. archangelica* was established from seedlings *via* callus formation. The highest coumarin production was achieved after three weeks of cultivation in the medium containing 3.0% sucrose. Cryopreservation was found to be a suitable method for storing the cell line. Plantlets propagated in an air-sparged bioreactor were transferable directly to soil. The coumarin composition and levels in the regenerated plants were comparable to those in intact plants.

A mathematical computer-aided model CELLOP was constructed in which the desirability functions in a three-dimensional experimental design are used for optimising the growing conditions for plant cultures. The calcium, inorganic nitrogen, and sucrose concentrations in the medium were optimised for coumarin-producing, spontaneously embryogenic cell lines of *A. archangelica* and *P. palustre*. In comparison to the reference, the dry mass for *A. archangelica* was 24.7% and the coumarin concentration 40.5% higher in the optimised conditions, and the dry mass for *P. palustre* 61.8% and the coumarin concentration 58.1% higher. For *A. archangelica* the highest embryogenic activity occurred in the medium containing 1.25 mM calcium and for *P. palustre* in the medium containing 50.0 mM NO₃⁻ and 4.01 mM NH₄⁺.

3 LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Eeva, M., Rauha, J.-P., Vuorela, P., Vuorela, H.: Computer-assisted, Highperformance liquid chromatography with mass spectrometric detection for the analysis of coumarins in *Peucedanum palustre* and *Angelica archangelica*. - Phytochem. Anal. **15**: 167-174, 2004.

II Eeva, M., Yrjönen, T., Summanen, J., Vuorela, P., Vuorela H.: Variability in coumarin composition of *Peucedanum palustre* in Finland. - submitted to J. Chem. Ecol.

III Eeva, M., Ojala, T., Tammela, P., Galambosi, B., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R., Fagerstedt, K., Vuorela, P.: Propagation of *Angelica archangelica* plants in an air-sparged bioreactor from a novel embryogenic cell line, and their production of coumarins. - Biol. Plant. **46**: 343-347, 2003.

IV Eeva, M., Vuorela, P., Tammela, P., Nyman, M., Ojala, S., Fagerstedt, K., Haario, H.,
 Vuorela H.: Development of the CELLOP optimisation model for plant cell cultivation. Biol. Plant. 51: 27-33, 2007.

These publications will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers

ABBREVIATIONS

ABA	abscisic acid
COX-1	cyclooxygenase-1
COX-2	cyclooxygenase-2
DAD	diode array detector
DM	dry mass
FM	fresh mass
GA	gibberellic acid
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
IAA	indole-3-acetic acid
IBA	indole butyric acid
JA	jasmonic acid
KIN	kinetin
LC/MS	liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry
MeJa	methyl jasmonate
МеОН	methanol
MS	mass spectrometry
MW	molecular weight
Ph.	Pharmacopoea
RP-HPLC	reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography
TLC	thin layer chromatography
UV-A	ultraviolet A light, long wave
XIC	extracted ion chromatogram/current

5 INTRODUCTION

Angelica (Angelica archangelica L. subsp. Archangelica) is naturally distributed throughout Northern Europe and Eastern Siberia, and is cultivated in Hungary, France, the Netherlands, Belgium and Finland for food and liqueur production. The umbelliferous plant Peucedanum palustre (L.) Moench is widespread in Europe (Meredith and Grubb 1993). It belongs to the endemic flora of Finland and is relatively common in southern Finland and frequently found along the south coast of Finland. It is less common in northern Finland. It grows in moist inland environments, on riverbanks or in moist forests (Hämet-Ahti et al. 1998). Both plants contain essential oils (Forsen 1979, Nykänen et al. 1991, Schmaus et al. 1989) and coumarins (Murray et al. 1982, Vuorela et al. 1988, Vuorela et al. 1989, Hadaček 1989, Härmälä 1991). The coumarins are benzo-α-pyrones, lactones of 2-hydroxy-Zcinnamic acids (Bruneton 1999). The coumarins in P. palustre and A. archangelica are either simple coumarins, hydroxylated, alkoxylated, and alkylated derivatives of the parent compound, coumarin, together with their glycosides (Murray et al. 1982) or furanocoumarins with a five-membered furan-ring attached to the coumarin nucleus. Furanocoumarins are divided into linear and angular furanocoumarins with substituents at one or both of the remaining benzenoid positions. Coumarins possess several biological activities, but they also play an important role in defence mechanisms against insects and plant pathogens (e.g. Hadaček et al. 1994, Ojala et al. 1999, Siskos et al. 2008). They also act as attractants to certain insect species (Meredith and Grubb 1993, Stanjek at al. 1997).

The basic methods used for plant coumarin analysis are thin-layer chromatography (TLC) and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, Härmälä 1991, Hadaček *et al.* 1994, Roos *et al.* 1997, Zschocke *et al.* 1998, Hawryl *et al.* 2000). The traditional analytical methods require large amounts of sample material and laborious sample preparation, and are thus suitable for only a limited number of samples. Due to the complex coumarin composition of umbelliferous plants, the chromatographic separation of closely related compounds is also often unsatisfactory. Coupling HPLC with mass spectrometry (MS) enables the differentiation of unresolved peaks, and is therefore well suited for the analysis of samples containing closely related compounds. Some studies involving application of the LC/MS technique to the coumarin analysis of plants of the *Angelica family* have been published. Zschocke *et al.* (1998) investigated the coumarin composition of *Angelica sinensis* (Oliv.) Diels root, and Roos *et al.* (1997) coumarins from *Angelica archangelica* L.. Computer-based optimisation methods, such as Turbo Method

Development[®] and DryLab[®], facilitate plant sample analysis by markedly reducing the number of initial runs needed. However, this approach has rarely been used for the development of a LC/MS method suitable for the rapid analysis of a large number of samples.

Several research groups have studied the coumarin composition of *P. palustre*, but very little quantitative data are available. Only one report involving a more comprehensive analysis of the quantitative coumarin composition of P. palustre roots, stems, leaves, and fruits has been published (Hadaček, 1989). The coumarin composition of root samples of a number of *Peucedanum* species was analyzed in this study, thereby enabling a more accurate systematic classification of the genus. In addition, comparative HPLC analyses of four Peucedanum species, including also P. palustre, have been carried out to investigate the quantitative differences in coumarins in different plant organs within the same plant species. A total of seven coumarins were detected, the linear furanocoumarins oxypeucedanin, oxypeucedanin hydrate, and the angular dihydrofuranocoumarin ostruthol, and columbianadin, being the major coumarins in the Austrian P. palustre. The results also revealed differences in the coumarin composition of the individual plant organs.

Somatic embryogenesis makes it possible to produce plant material to be used not only in developmental studies but also in plant propagation. Somatic embryogenesis was reported for the first time in *Oenanthe aquatica* L. (Waris 1957) and in *Daucus carota* L. (Reinert 1958, Steward *et al.* 1958). Since then, somatic embryogenesis has been reported in at least 30 Apiaceae species. As the germination ability of *A. archangelica* seeds is very low (Ojala 1985), alternative propagation methods are needed. The maintenance of cell cultures is often impractical and may lead to loss of the desired characteristics, *e.g.* ability for embryogenesis. Thus a preservation method, such as cryopreservation, offers the possibility for long-term storage of a plant cell line (Cho *et al.* 2000).

Secondary metabolite production may be increased by means of genetic engineering, but growth medium optimisation is still needed in the development of a feasible bioprocess (Verpoorte *et al.* 2002). Traditionally the effect of a single explanatory variable on the whole system has been determined by omitting the interactions of the other nutrients. Thus optimisation methods must be developed that enable fast, reliable approximation of the interactions between several variables in a multivariable system. Minor modification to a standard media, such as Murashige and Skoog (1962) or Gamborg B5 (Gamborg *et al.* 1968), is a common approach when establishing a new cell culture. A more recent approach is to optimise the growing medium of the *in vitro* culture by analysing the mineral proportions of the interact plant material (Gonçalves *et al.* 2005). A more comprehensive approach is needed

in order to understand the complexity of the requirements of a novel culture, as well as to reduce the number of experiments and the time required. Systematic optimisation is frequently used for microbial cultures, and is also applied to plant cell cultures. A widely used design has been the central composite design (Eilers et al. 1988, Tuominen et al. 1989, Nuutila et al. 1991, Toivonen et al. 1991, Chattopadhyay et al. 2003) developed by Cochran and Cox (1957), which employs regression analysis. Response surface methodology is applied to map the expected performance of a range of response variables in a multi-variable system. In these studies, interactions between variables markedly affected the system. Methods designed for slowly growing cultures based on several initial experimental starting points have also been published (Tammisola et al. 1993), enabling a more simultaneous approach and making it easier to avoid time-dependent variables such as seasonal or even genetic changes. "PRISMA", a prismatic solvent mixture design model for analytical purposes developed by Nyiredy et al. (1991), combined with desirability functions by Deming (1991), have been successfully used in HPLC optimisation (Outinen et al. 1998). These enable combination of a medium mixture design based on "PRISMA" and statistical evaluation and modelling of the response variables by means of desirability functions for predicting the behaviour of the response variables, *i.e.* the desired features of a novel plant cell culture.

6 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

6.1 Botany and distribution of A. archangelica and P. palustre

A. archangelica L. Apiaceae (Umblliferae) is a robust monocarpic perennial growing 1.5 - 2 m tall. The plant is characterized by a spindle-shaped, thick root with many long, descending rootlets. The basal leaves are large (up to 80 cm) and petiolate, with petiole sheaths conspicuously inflated and blades triangular in outline, bi- to tripinnate. The leaflets are large and wide with finely serrated edges. The upper alternate leaves have a strongly inflated petiole, and laminae are small or absent. Bracts are absent and bracteoles are mainly linear. The stalk is erect, striate, hollow, and branchy, and has distinctive reddish to violet colour. The primary umbel has 1-3 early withering sheaths, the secondary umbels are spherical, and the sheaths are linear and declined. Fruits are dorsally flat, elliptic to oblong with winged lateral ridges. The apex leaflet is usually unlobed with a petiole concave in cross-section. Robust petioles are cylindrical in cross-section, leaflets unevenly serrated, and

lobed. The leaf apex is 3-lobed, the corolla is white to greenish, and the lateral ribs of the fruits are thick.

The species is usually divided into two subspecies: *A. archangelica* L. subsp. *litoralis* (Fr.) Thell. and *A. archangelica* L. subsp. *archangelica*. The pedicles of subsp. *litoralis* (Fr.) Thell. are glabrous and the sheaths of the secondary umbels are approximately one half the length of the pedicle. The fruits are 5-6 x 3.5-4.5 mm of size, ovate and have a pungent odour. The dorsal ribs are low and blunt. The species grows on open, rocky seashores of northern Europe (Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998). Pedicles of the subsp. *archangelica* are hairy to sub-glabrous and the secondary umbel sheaths are of the same length as the pedicle. The fruits are 6-8 x 4-5 mm long, oblong, with a pleasant odour, and the dorsal ridges are prominent and acute. It grows on creek and river banks in moist inland environments or in moist forests, especially in the fell region in northern Finland. The subsp. *archangelica* is divided into three varieties: var. *archangelica*, var. *decurrens* (Ledeb.) Weinert, and var. *sativa* (Mill.) Rikli (Weinert 1973). The populations of subsp. *archangelica* in Finland and Scandinavia are treated as var. *archangelica*. Both the odour and taste of the fruits are pleasantly aromatic. The plant blooms from June to August, depending on the location (Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998).

In Finland, *A. archangelica* has scattered occurrences in Inari and Enontekiö in Lapland, and further south it mainly grows along the River Ounasjoki in the area of the Kemijoki river system. A disjunctive occurrence has also been found at Somerniemi in South Finland. It has also been cultivated in South Finland at Puumala and Turku. *Angelica* is also cultivated in Europe, especially in Germany, Belgium, and France (Hoppe 1975, Ojala 1984, Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998). The growing area of *Angelica archangelica* (L.) *subsp. archangelica* extends from Finland and Scandinavia to East Siberia, the southern limit of distribution running from central Germany to Altai and Lake Baikal. There is a large discrete distribution area in the Himalayas, and the plant also occurs in Greenland, Iceland, and the Faeroe Islands (Weinert 1973).

Peucedanum palustre (L.) Moench Apiaceae (Umblliferae) is in English called hog's fennel, marsh parsley, or milk parsley due to the white, sticky fluid exuding from the broken tissues of young plants. The herb is almost sub-glabrous, and in Finland it grows 50-100 cm tall. It is usually described as annual or biennial, but also sometimes as perennial. The taproot is simple, spindle-shaped and up to 20 cm long with slender laterals up to 10 cm long. The stems are sulcate, and hollow. The basal leaves are 2 to 4-pinnate, triangular in outline, and the lobes are 5-10 mm long, ovate in outline, and pinnately lobed. The ultimate lobes are

linear or oblong, entire or 2 to 3-fid, with an obtuse cartilaginous apex and black tips. The plants have 1-8 lateral flowering branches with 20-40 rays which are puberulent on the inner side. The petioles, 2-3 mm wide, are canaliculated and expanded at the base. The bracts and bracteoles are very unequal, lanceolate, sometimes 2 to 3-fid, and deflexed. The flowers are 2-3 mm in diameter with ovate, obtuse sepals. The petals are white and papillose-puberulent above. The elliptical fruit is 4-5 mm long, the wing is 0.5 - 0.75 mm wide, the dorsal ridges are wide and prominent, and the commissural resin canal is concealed by the pericarp (Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998, Meredith and Grubb 1993).

P. palustre grows in wet places such as swampy meadows and marshy soils in fens, fen scrub, fen woodland, at the waterfront of ponds, in wet spruce swamps, and ditches, but also in cliff cracks and swampy low-lying cliff formations in the outer archipelago, the plant being common throughout the whole of Finland apart from northern Lapland (Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998). In Europe the species ranges from Britain and France to the Urals and Altai in central Asia, and from Finland and Scandinavia to Italy, the Balkans, and Bulgaria. It is absent from the Iberian Peninsula, Albania, Greece, and Turkey. It extends very widely through both the deciduous forest zone and the boreal zone. In western parts of Germany the species is very widespread in the northern third and in the valleys of the southern third, but generally very local in the central third of the country (Meredith and Grubb 1993, Hämet-Ahti *et al.* 1998).

6.2 Ethnobotany of A. archangelica and P. palustre

Angelica herb, seeds, and roots have been used for centuries in folk medicine and especially as a food ingredient and a vitamin source by the Same, the inhabitants of the Faeroe Islands, and other Nordic peoples (Bergius 1782). In Viking times angelica root was a major export commodity from Scandinavia, especially from Norway to the continent. The Same used angelica against coughs and the leaves topically to relieve oedemas. The stems collected prior to flowering, candied with sugar, were also used as a form of candy. It was primarily used for medicinal purposes, being supposed to cure almost every disease including the plague (Jóhansen 1994).

The printed history of angelica begins in the 17th century with the pharmacopoeia of Stockholm (*Ph. Holmiensis* 1686). Angelica root and seeds are mentioned several times in various compositions and it was one of the main ingredients of theriac, a cure against innumerable ailments. The pharmacopoeic history of angelica in Finland ends with the first edition of *Ph. Fennica* from the year 1819. Still in 1829, angelica was mentioned in 41

European pharmacopoeias (*Ph. Universalis* 1829). Bergius (1782) recommended angelica for its poison-resisting properties, for being beneficial to the stomach, for causing sweating, and for relieving flatulence. Björnlund (1797) mentioned it, in addition as a remedy for swelling or inflammation, also for *"asthma pituitosum, colica frigida, obstructio mensium"*. Later sources mention angelica as a remedy for gastric disorders (Hoppe 1975), lack of appetite, insomnia, rheumatism, and for cough (Blaschek *et al.* 1998). Nowadays it is used as a flavouring agent in medicines and liqueur production.

The ethnopharmacologial history of *Peucedanum palustre* L. (Moench) is somewhat more obscure because *P. palustre* was seldom used in folk medicine. According to Schmaus *et al.* (1989), it was used against pertussis and spasms and, According to Hoppe (1975), it was used against cough, cramps, epilepsy, and gastrointestinal disorders. Other *Peucedanum* species have also been used against rheumatism (Hiermann and Schantl 1998) or gout (Hsiao *et al.* 1998). The sources from the 19th century use several synonyms of the drug and most probably several closely related species of the Apiaceae family have been used for the same purposes. In *Ph. Universalis* (1829) the names *Peucedanum officinale* L. and *Foeniculum porcinum* are mentioned, and in Geiger and Mohr (1845) the drugs *radix Olsnitii* or *Thysselini, radix Apii silvestris, radix Mei palustris, radix Selini palustris L.*, and *Thysellini palustris Hoffm.*. Kubetczka *et al.* (1989) quoted Chamberlain's Flora of Turkey, stating that "it seems unlikely that *Peucedanum* represents a natural assemblage of species; it is more probably a collection of taxa brought together by exclusion from other genera". This gives a good insight into the difficulties in distinguishing between the different species of Apiaceae, which closely resemble each other.

According to *Ph. Universalis* (1829) and Geiger and Mohr (1845), the drug was used for swelling or inflammation, as a diuretic, for stimulating blood flow in the pelvic area and uterus, and against poisoning. The drug was an appreciated remedy against epilepsy. Bergius (1782) recommends it against hysteria, diuretic or for stimulation of the blood flow in the pelvic area and uterus. Some of the old names, *i.e.* Finnish, Swedish, or Russian ginger, indicate that it has been used as spice due to its spicy, but somewhat mordant taste. The Sami have chewed the roots as a substitute for tobacco (Palmstruch 1809).

6.3 **Phytochemistry and analytics of coumarins**

The Tupi Indian word, "coumarou", for coumarin-containing *Dipteryx odorata* (Aublet) Willd. Fabaceae has given the name to the whole group of substances (Bruneton

1999). Coumarins are benzo- α -pyrones, lactones of 2-hydroxy-Z-cinnamic acids (Bruneton 1999, Matern *et al.* 1999, Borges *et al.* 2005). Coumarin-structured compounds are widely distributed in the plant kingdom, but also present in fungi and bacteria (Matern *et al.* 1999). Already in 1982 Murray listed approximately 1250 monomeric coumarin derivatives isolated from plant sources. Within higher plants, simple coumarins occur in about 70 plant families. Since then, hundreds of new coumarins have been identified (Murray 1989, Murray 1991, Murray 1995, Murray 1997, Borges *et al.* 2005). Coumarins are found free or as heterosides in many dicotyledonous families, such as Apiaceae, Asteraceae, Fabiaceae, Moraceae, Rosaceae, Rubiaceae, Rutaceae, and Solanaceae (Matern *et al.* 1999). Coumarins with an additional ring system, furano- or pyranocoumarins, only occur in 15 plant families, the majority of them being Apiaceae and Rutaceae.

The coumarins present in *P. palustre* or *A. archangelica* can be divided into simple coumarins, (**Figure 1**) hydroxylated, alkoxylated, and alkylated derivatives of the parent compound, coumarin, together with their glycosides (Murray *et al.* 1982). Furanocoumarins have a five-membered furan ring attached to the coumarin nucleus. They are divided into linear (**Figure 2**) and angular coumarins (**Figure 3**), with substituents at one or both of the remaining benzenoid positions. According to Wagner *et al.* (1984), angelica root contains 0.001 - 0.008% coumarins. Gawron and Głowniak (1987) reported coumarin concentrations in angelica fruits of up to 3.5%. A total of 32 coumarins have been reported to be present in *A. archangelica* (**Table 1**) and 20 in *P. palustre* (**Table 2**).



Figure 1. Simple coumarins found in *A. archanigelica* and *P. palustre* in this study.

Böcker and Hahn (1911) isolated a γ -lactone from the volatile oil of angelica by steam distillation, which Späth and Pesta (1934) later showed to be osthol that is also found in *Peucedanum ostruthium* L.. Baerheim Svendsen (1954) reported archangelicin, osthenol, umbelliferone, angelicin, archangin, and osthol to be present in *A. archangelica* L. subsp. *norvegica* (Rubr.) Nordh utilising methods such as isolation, adsorption chromatography,

chemical analysis, and paper chromatography. Fisher and Baerheim Svendsen (1976) also found oroselone and apterin in angelica. Späth and Pesta (1939) and Cisowski *et al.* (1987) studied the coumarins in the fruits, roots, and stems of *A. archangelica* L. and *A. litoralis* Fries. They reported that the roots and fruits of both plants contain 13 coumarins, and the stems eight free coumarins.

Angelica root oil has been analysed in detail (Taskinen and Nykänen 1975, Nykänen *et al.* 1991). Forsen (1979) studied the components of the essential root oil during the growing period with a strain from northernmost Finland and *A. archangelica* var. *sativa* of German origin cultivated under the same conditions. The *A. archangelica* var. *archangelica* provided better flavouring properties than *A. archangelica* var. *sativa*, possibly due to differences in the monoterpene composition of the strains. Ojala *et al.* (1986) studied the essential root oil of angelica in 15 populations. One marked feature was an increase in the concentration of 3-carene from the south towards the north.

Linear furanocoumarins	R1	R2	
Psoralen	Н	Н	
Xanthotoxol	Н	-OH	
Xanthotoxin	Н	-OCH ₃	
Bergapten	-OCH ₃	Н	
Isopimpinellin	-OCH ₃	-OCH ₃	
Imperatorin	Н	-O-CH ₂ -	
		$CH=C(CH_3)_2$	
Isoimperatorin	-O-CH ₂ -	Н	
	$CH=C(CH_3)_2$		
Oxypeucedanin	А	Н	
Phellopterin	-OCH ₃	-O-CH ₂ -	
		$CH=C(CH_3)_2$	
Oxypeucedaninhydrate	В	Н	
Ostruthol	С	Н	
Isobyakangelicin angelate	С	-OCH ₃	
		ОН ОН	
-	Α	В	С

Figure 2. Linear coumarins found in *A. archanigelica* and *P. palustre* in this study.

The coumarins reported in *P. palustre* are listed in **Table 2**. The roots have been shown to contain columbianadin, isoimperatorin, ostruthol, (+)-oxypeucedanin, (+)-oxypeucedanin hydrate (Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964), peulustrin (Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965A), and isobyakangelin angelate (Vuorela *et al.* 1988). The fruits, according to Eichstedt

Nielsen and Lemmich (1965B), contain columbianadin, columbianadinoxide, isoimperatorin, iso-oxypeucedanin hydrate, isopeulustrin, (+)-oxypeucedanin, and umbelliprenin. Bieganowska and Głowniak (1988) reported that the extracts of fruits, herb and roots contained a similar range of coumarins, the main components being columbianadin, imperatorin, isoimperatorin, oxypeucedanin, and oxypeucedanin hydrate. Hadaček (1989) reported that oxypeucedanin hydrate, oxypeucedanin, isobyakangelicin angelate, ostruthol, peulustrin, columbianadin, and isoimperatorin occurred in the fruit, subterraneous parts, leaves, and stems.

The volatile oils of the fruit and stalk of *P. palustre* consists almost entirely of monoterpenes hydrocarbons, and the essential leaf oil of monoterpene hydrocarbons (47%), sesquiterpene hydrocarbons (38%), aliphatic alcohols, and esters (7%), as well as traces of oxygenated sesquiterpenoids. The root oil mainly consists of mono- and sesquiterpenoids (Schmaus *et al.* 1989).



Figure 3. Structure of the angular coumarins found in *A. archanigelica* and *P. palustre* in this study.

Compound	Plant organ and reference
Angelicin	(F) Corcilius 1956
č	(L) Steck and Bailey 1969
2'-Angeloyl-3'-isovaleryl vaginate	(R) Härmälä 1991
Apterin	(R) Fischer and Baerheim Svendsen 1976
Archangelicin	(R) Nogushi and Kawanami 1940
Archangelin	(R) Chatterjee and Sen Gupta 1964
Archangin	(R) Baerheim Svendsen 1954
Bergapten	(R) Späth and Vierhapper 1939, Härmälä 1991, (I)
	(L) Steck and Bailey 1969, (I)
	(F) Corcilius 1956
Byakangelicin angelate	(R) Härmälä 1991
Byakangelicin-2'-O-isovalerate	(R) Sun and Jakupovic 1986
Heraclenol-2'-O-isovalerate	(R) Sun and Jakupovic 1986
Heraclenol-2'-O-seneciote	(R) Sun and Jakupovic 1986
8-Hydroxybergapten	(F) Patra <i>et al.</i> 1976
Imperatorin	(F) Späth and Vierhapper 1937
	(L) Steck and Bailey 1969
	(R) Corcilius 1956, Härmälä 1991, (I)
Isobergapten	Chatterjee & Dutta 1968
Isoimperatorin	(F) Chatterjee et al. 1967
	(L) Chatterjee <i>et al.</i> 1967
	(R) Chatterjee <i>et al.</i> 1967, Härmälä 1991, (I)
Isopimpinellin	(F) Patra <i>et al.</i> 1976
	(L) Steck and Bailey 1969, (I) (D) $H_{\text{Barrystr}} = 1001$ (D)
	(R) Harmala 1991, (I) $(R) = \frac{1}{2} $
5-Methoxy-heraclenol isovalerate	(R) Sun and Jakupovic 1986
8-[2-(3-Methyl- butyroxy)-3-hydroxy-	(R) Harmala 1991
Oroselone	(E) Baerheim Svendsen 1954
oroseione	(R) Baerheim Svendsen 1954
Osthenol	(F) Corcilius 1956
	(R) Böcker and Hahn 1911, (\mathbf{I})
Osthol	(F) Böcker and Hahn 1911. Corcilius 1956
	(R) Härmälä 1991, (I)
Ostruthol	(F) Chatterjee et al. 1967
	(R) Chatterjee and Dutta 1968, Härmälä 1991, (I)
(+)-Oxypeucedanin	(F) Chatterjee et al. 1967
	(L) Steck and Bailey 1969, I
	(R) Chatterjee and Dutta 1968, Härmälä 1991, (I)
(+)-Oxypeucedanin hydrate	(F) Chatterjee et al. 1967
	(\mathbf{R}) (\mathbf{I})
Oxypeucedanin methanolate	(R) Vishwapaul and Weyerstahl 1987
Phellopterin	(F) Beyrich 1965
	(R) Hårmålå 1991, (I)
Pimpinellin	(F) Cisowski <i>et al.</i> 1987
Psoralen	(K) Härmälä 1991, (I)
Umbelliterone	(F) Sommer 1859
TT 1 11.	(R) Sommer 1859, (I)
Umbelliprenin	(F) Spath and Vierhapper 1938 (D) Consilius 1056
Varitheterin	(K) COTCHINS 1950
Aantnotoxin	(r) Spain and Viernapper 1938 (L) (\mathbf{T})
	(E) (E) (R) Corcilius 1956 Härmälä 1991 (I)
Xanthotoxol	(F) Snäth and Vierhanner 1937
	(R) Corcilius 1956, (I)

Table 1. Coumarins reported in Angelica archangelica L. (F = fruit, L = leaf, R = root)

Compound Plant organ and reference Aesculetin (L) Meredith and Grupp 1993 Apterin (U) (I) (R) Leskova and Ananichev 1969, Vuorela 1988 Bergapten Columbianadin (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B, Hadaček 1989 (R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964, Vuorela 1988, (I) (U) (I) (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B Columbianadin oxide (R) (I) (U) (I) (F) Leskova and Ananichev 1969 Imperatorin (R) Leskova and Ananichev 1969, Vuorela 1988, (I) (U) (I) Isobyakangelicin angelate (F) Hadaček 1989 (L) Hadaček 1989 (S) Hadaček 1989 (R) Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, (I) (U) (I) (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B Isoimperatorin (R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964, Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, (I) (U) (I) (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B Isooxypeucedanin Isopeulustrin (R) (I) (U) (I) Isopimpinellin (\mathbf{R}) (I) (U) (I) (F) Hadaček 1989 Ostruthol (L) Hadaček 1989 (R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964, Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, (I) (S) Hadaček 1989 (U) (I) (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B, Hadaček 1989 (+)-Oxypeucedanin (L) Hadaček 1989 (R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964, Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, (I) (U)(I)(R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1964, Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989, (I) (+)-Oxypeucedanin hydrate (U)(I)(F) Leskova and Ananichev 1969 Peucedanin (R) Leskova and Ananichev 1969 (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B, Hadaček 1989 Peulustrin (L) Hadaček 1989 (R) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965A, Hadaček 1989, (I) (S) Hadaček 1989 (U) (I) Pimpinellin (R) I Umbelliferone (L) Meredith and Grupp 1993 Umbelliprenin (F) Eichstedt Nielsen and Lemmich 1965B (R) (I) (U) (I) Xanthotoxin (R) unpublished data

Table 2. Coumarins reported in *Peucedanum palustre* (L.) Moench. (F = fruit, L = leaf, S = stem, R = root, U = umbel)

Several planar, column, and gas-liquid chromatographic, countercurrent partition and gel filtration methods have been used in the isolation and analysis of coumarins (Murray et al. 1982, Erdelmeier 1983). The retention behaviour of coumarins in normal-phase highperformance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC) high-performance and liquid chromatography (HPLC) has been studied by Głowniak and Bieganowska (1985) and Bieganowska and Głowniak (1988). Some studies involving the application of HPLC-MS to the analysis of coumarins in plants of the Angelica family have also been published. Coupling HPLC with MS rather than with traditional detectors in order to enable differentiation of unresolved peaks is advantageous in the analysis of samples containing closely related compounds. Zschocke et al. (1998) investigated the coumarin composition of the roots of Angelica sinensis, and Roos et al. (1997) studied the coumarins from A. archangelica. L. (Angelica officinalis Hoff.). In these studies 11 to 16 coumarins were separated and identified.

6.4 Pharmacology of coumarins

In North America cattle fed with hay containing sweet clover (*Melilotus* sp) stored in unfavourable conditions were dying from a hemorrhagic disorder (Schofield 1922). The bishydroxycoumarin responsible for the disorder was formed from coumarin by fungal fermentation (Schofield 1924, Campbell and Link 1941). Already in the 1940's, bishydroxycoumarin was synthesized and used as an oral anti-coagulant. Another area in medicine utilising coumarin derivatives is the treatment of psoriasis and other skin diseases, such as cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, atopic dermatitis, *alopecia areata, urticaria pigmentosa*, and *lichen planus* (Oliver and Winkelmann 1993, Goodman and Gilman 2006) with linear furanocoumarins *i.e.* psoralens and ultraviolet light (P-UVA). The most used compound is xanthotoxin (Conconi *et al.* 1998), but bergapten has also been successfully used for the coumarins present in *A. archangelica* and *P. palustre* can be approximately divided into six categories: anti-inflammatory, anti-microbial, anti-cancer, calcium antagonistic, effects on central nervous system, and other bioactivities.

Anti-inflammatory activity: Mammalian cells express a constitutive enzyme (COX-1) responsible for the production of prostaglandins, and an inducible isoform (COX-2) induced in response to proinflammatory cytokines and bacterial cell components (Payá *et al.* 1997). COX-1 is mainly associated with homeostasis, and COX-2 with oedematous,

21

nociceptive, and pyretic effects of inflammation. The nitric oxide (NO), synthesized by nitric oxide synthase (NOS), is an important mediator in inflammation (Dugas *et al.* 1995). The products of 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) contribute to inflammation. These enzymes are essential components of the inflammatory response mechanism and are involved in the pathogenesis of several inflammatory diseases (Vane *et al.* 1994).

Columbianadin, bergapten, and umbelliferone show significant anti-inflammatory and analgesic activity. However, osthol and xanthotoxin only have anti-inflammatory activity and isoimperatorin only analgesic effect. The anti-inflammatory and analgesic constituents seem to be related to the peripheral inhibition of inflammatory substances and to their effect on the central nervous system (Chen et al. 1995). Lino et al. (1997) showed that the anti-nociseptive activity of coumarin and umbelliferone did not involve the opioid system because pretreatment with naloxone, a competitive µ-opioid receptor antagonist, did not reverse the antinociception. Pre-treatment with L-arginine, which is a substrate for NO synthesis, reversed the anti-nociception caused by umbelliferone, indicating the involvement of NO. Coumarin and umbelliferone also had a significant anti-oedemic effect in the carrageenan model, but only coumarin decreased the rat paw volume in the dextran model in mice. Testing of the anti-inflammatory properties of psoralen and imperatorin in mice suggested that the antiinflammatory activity of each compound depends on its individual substitution on the aromatic ring rather than on the coumarin skeleton itself (García-Argáez 2000). Osthol and osthenol showed an inhibitory effect on 5-LO and COX-1 in vitro (Liu et al. 1998). Also Resch et al. (1998) found osthol to be a moderate but selective 5-LO inhibitor. Imperatorin and isoimperatorin showed dual inhibitory activity due to their significant effect on 5-LO and comparable inhibition on COX-1- and COX-2, when compared to indometacin and nimesulide. Only imperatorin caused a significant reduction of NO generation (Abad et al. 2001). Also psoralen, xanthotoxin, and umbelliferone have shown COX-2/5-LO dual inhibitory activity (Kim et al. 2006). In contrast to the results obtained in the study of Chen et al. (1995), osthol was only slightly active in 5-LO inhibition but inactive in COX-1 inhibition (Roos et al. 1997). Of the coumarins isolated from Angelica archangelica, no marked inhibitory activity in the COX-1 study was found except for angelicin. In the 5-LO test, apart from osthol, only oxypeucedanin hydrate isovalerate showed linear, concentration-dependent inhibitory activity. Phellopterin, imperatorin, and archangelicin were weakly active, but had no linear concentration-dependent activity, which might be due to the calcium antagonistic properties of the coumarins as reported by Härmälä et al. (1992B).

Calcium antagonistic activity: The effects of columbianadin, oxypeucedanin, isoimperatorin, and ostruthol from P. palustre on prolactin (PRL) release from GH₃ rat pituitary tumour cells were studied using verapamil as a reference. Columbianadin inhibited the basal and thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH)-induced PRL release, oxypeucedanin was active against KCl-induced PRL release, ostruthol showed activity at a concentration of 10⁻⁴ M in all cases, and isoimperatorin was active against the basal and KCI induced PRL release (Vuorela et al. 1988). In more detailed studies, columbianadin was found to inhibit depolarization induced Ca²⁺ uptake in rat pituitary GH₃ cells (Törnquist and Vuorela 1990). 2'-angeloyl-3'-isovalerylvaginate, archangelicin, oxypeucedanin hydrate, bergapten, byakangelicin angelate, imperatorin, isoimperatorin, isopimpinellin, 8-[2-(3methylbutyroxy)-3-hydroxy-3-methylbutyroxy]psoralen, osthol, ostruthol, oxypeucedanin, phellopterin, psoralen, and xanthotoxin from the roots of A. archangelica L. subsp. *archangelica* all exhibited calcium antagonistic activity on the uptake of ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ in clonal rat pituitary GH₄C₁ cells, archangelicin being even more active than verapamil (Härmälä *et al.* 1992B). The studies carried out by Kummala and co-workers (1996) on ATP- and thapsigargin-induced changes in intracellular free Ca²⁺ in Fluo-3-AM loaded rat thyroid FRTL-5 cells, also indicated that osthol and columbianadin are potential calcium antagonists. Ojala et al. (2001) showed further that osthol modulates TRH-evoked responses by interacting with the TRH receptor.

Anti-microbial activity: Psoralen, 8-methoxypsoralen, bergapten, oxypeucedanin, and isopimpinellin from parsley leaves inhibited a DNA repair-deficient *Escherichia coli*, the human pathogens *E. coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes*, the spoilage micro-organism *Erwinia carotovora*, and *Listeria innocua*, but not *Pseudomonas fragi*. Photoactivation of the furanocoumarins with UV light at 365 nm for 60 min had only a marginal effect on *L. monocytogenes* and *L. innocua*, but a slight UV inhibitory effect was detected with *E. carotovora* (Manderfeld *et al.* 1997).

Kofinas *et al.* (1998) showed that umbelliferone, isopimpinellin, xanthotoxin, isobergapten, columbianetin acetate, and columbianetin were active against *Cladosporium cucumerinum*. A group of coumarins was synthesised using angelicin as the lead structure. The synthesized coumarins and angelicin derivatives were tested against *Candida albicans*, *Cryptococcus neoformans*, *Saccharomyces cereviciae*, and *Aspergillus niger*. In many of the synthesised coumarins and angular furanocoumarins, the free 6-OH was found to be important for anti-fungal activity, and the free 7-OH of the coumarin nucleus for anti-

bacterial activity. Angelicin showed no cytotoxicity against Human cell line KB cells. (Sardari *et al.* 1999).

The crude extracts from the fruits of *Angelica lucida* and the isolated imperatorin, isoimperatorin, heraclenol, oxypeucedanin hydrate, and heraclenin, were moderately active against Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria and oral pathogens, while the tested extracts and isolated compounds were inactive against the assayed *Candida* species. An isoprenyl unit attached to the carbocyclic ring was found to favour the anti-microbial activity. A prenyl group in the furanocoumarin skeleton results in an increase in lipophilicity, thereby facilitating passage though the bacterial membrane (Widelski *et al.* 2009).

Umbelliprenin, imperatorin, bergapten, isopimpinellin, byakangelicin, 7methoxycoumarin, and 5-hydroxy-8-methoxypsoralen were isolated from seeds of *Peucedanum zenkeri* L., of which only imperatorin, bergapten, and isopimpinellin had antimicrobial activity (Ngwendson *et al.* 2003). Coumarins and structurally related compounds, including imperatorin, were active against anti-human immunodeficiency virus, type 1 (HIV-1), highlighting the potential of the Sp1 transcription factor as a target for natural anti-HIV-1 compounds such as furanocoumarins (Sancho *et al.* 2004).

Anti-cancer effects: The coumarin fractions from the fruits of *Archangelica officinalis* Hoffm. and *Pastinaca sativa* L. inhibited the growth of a culture of cancer cells HeLa-S 3 grown in the dark. Ten coumarins were isolated from the fractions in decreasing order of activity, osthol, xanthotoxol, 4-methylaesculetin, isopimpinellin, bergapten, xanthotoxin, imperatorin, coumarin, umbelliferone, and 4-hydroxycoumarin, of which eight inhibited the proliferation of HeLa cells (Gawron and Głowniak 1987).

Psoralen, bergapten, and xanthotoxin from *Angelica keiskei* Koidz showed antitumour activity. Imperatorin and isoimperatorin showed potent inhibitory activity in a test based on 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA)-stimulated ³²Pi incorporation into the phospholipids of cultured cells (Okuyama *et al.* 1990). Okuyama *et al.* (1991) also isolated the angular furanocoumarins, archangelicin and 8(S),9(R)-9-angeloyloxy-8,9dihydrooroselol, and the linear furanocoumarins, psoralen, bergapten, and xanthotoxin. The angular furanocoumarins, suppressed (TPA)-stimulated ³²Pi-incorporation into the phospholipids of cultured cells, whereas the other coumarins were less active.

A chloroform extract of *Angelica japonica* root inhibited cell growth of human gastric adenocarcinoma (MK-1). The furanocoumarins osthol, isoimperatorin, scopoletin, byakangelicin, xanthotoxin, bergapten, oxypeucedanin methanolate, and oxypeucedanin hydrate, isolated from the extract, showed only weak anti-proliferative activity against MK-1,

HeLa, and B16F10 cell lines, although a number of compounds did have some specificity. Scopoletin, japoangelone, and oxypeucedanin methanolate showed higher activity to B16F10 cells than to MK-1 and HeLa cells, whereas xanthotoxin and bergapten were more active to HeLa cells than to MK-1 and B16F10 cells (Fujioka *et al.* 1999).

A total of 33 coumarins, simple isopentenylated coumarins, pyrano- and furanocoumarin derivatives, with only weak anti-proliferative activity against the normal human cell lines, showed anti-proliferative activity against cancer cell lines. The decreasing rank order of potency was osthenone, clausarin, clausenidin, dentatin, nordentatin, imperatorin, seselin, xanthyletin, suberosin, phebalosin, and osthol. The structure-activity relationship established on the basis of the results showed that the 1,1-dimethylallyl and isopentenyl groups play an important role in anti-proliferative activity (Kawaii *et al.* 2001).

Kleiner et al. (2001) showed that oral administration of coumarins leads to altered enzyme activities and reduced DNA adduct formation by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the tissues of SENCAR mice. Imperatorin and isopimpinellin significantly blocked the cytochrome P-450 enzymes ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase (EROD) and pentoxyresorufin Odealkylase (PROD) in epidermis. They also modestly inhibited EROD activities in the lung and forestomach, and significantly inhibited PROD activities in the lung and forestomach. After 24 h of the final oral dose of imperatorin or isopimpinellin, EROD and PROD activities remained inhibited in the epidermis and lung. However, forestomach P-450 activity returned to the control levels. They also increased by 1.6-fold liver cytosolic glutathione S-transferase activity at both 1 and 24 h after the final oral dose compared with the controls. Oral administration also provided protection against DNA adduct formation by benzo[a]pyrene and 7,12-dimethylbenzyl[a]anthracene (DMBA). Imperatorin pre-treatment (B[a]P)decreased the formation of DNA adducts by (DMBA) in the forestomach. Pre-treatment with isopimpinellin led to reduced DNA adduct levels in liver (B[a]P), lung (B[a]P), and mammary epithelial cells (DMBA), suggesting that imperatorin and isopimpinellin may have potential chemo-preventive effects. Imperatorin induced apoptosis in human promyelocytic leukaemia, HL-60 cells. Neither necrosis nor differentiation was observed at cytotoxic micromolar concentrations (Pae et al. 2002).

Effects on the central nervous system: Coumarins have shown activity in several receptor systems of the central nervous system. Phellopterin strongly inhibited the binding of [³H]diazepam to benzodiazepine receptors *in vitro*, while the other coumarins, despite their structural similarities, were considerably less active (Bergendorff *et al.* 1997). Huong *et al.* (1999) reported that xanthotoxin, psoralen, and bergapten inhibited monoamino oxidase

enzyme (MAO) *in vitro*. Imperatorin has been shown to elevate the gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) levels in both a time- and concentration-dependent manner by inhibiting the GABA degradative enzyme gamma-aminobutyric acid transaminase GABA-T. However, isoimperatorin, phellopterin, and oxypeucedanin hydrate were inactive both in GABA-T and succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase tests (Choi *et al.* 2005). Imperatorin has also been reported to exhibit affinity towards the 5-HT₇ receptors in a competitive binding assay (Deng *et al.* 2006). Ostruthol, imperatorin, isoimperatorin, and oxypeucedanin hydrate inhibited acetylcholine esterase (AChE), being about ten-fold more active than the AChE inhibitor galanthamine, and almost as strong as huperzine A from *Huperzia serrata*, Lycopodiaceae, which is presently the most powerful known AChE inhibitor (Hostettmann and Marston 2007).

Other bioactivities: Oxypeucedanin, bergapten, xanthotoxin, imperatorin, and phellopterin activated adrenaline-induced lipolysis in fat cells from rats. Oxypeucedanin hydrate, imperatorin, and phellopterin also activated adrenocorticotropin-induced lipolysis. In contrast, furanocoumarins such as byakangelicin, neobyakangelicol, and isopimpinellin strongly inhibited insulin-stimulated lipogenesis (Kimura *et al.* 1982). A diet containing 0.05% osthol over 4 weeks in 6-week-old, male, stroke-prone, spontaneously hypertensive rats significantly suppressed the elevation of systolic blood pressure and decreased cholesterol and triglyceride contents in the liver without any significant changes in serum lipids (Ogawa *et al.* 2007). Among the isolates from *Peucedanum japonicum*, eugenin, (-)-selinidin, (+)-pteryxin, imperatorin, bergapten, cnidilin, and (+)-visamminol, showed strong anti-platelet aggregation activity *in vitro* (Chen *et al.* 1996). Osthol, imperatorin, xanthotoxin, and isopimpinellin showed a relaxing effect in the phenylephrine-precontracted endothelium of intact rabbit *corpus cavernosum* (Chiou *et al.* 2001).

Eleven furanocoumarins expressed estrogenic activity on the Ishikawa cell line. 9hydroxy-4-methoxypsoralen and alloisoimperatorin were the most active, whereas oxypeucedanin hydrate, 9-hydroxy-4-methoxypsoralen, byakangelicin, pabulenol, alloisoimperatorin, neobyakangelicol, byakangelicol, oxypeucedanin, imperatorin, phellotorin, and isoimperatorin were only slightly active (Piao *et al.* 2006).

6.5 The role of coumarins in plants

The primary site of synthesis of coumarins is suggested to be the young, actively growing leaves, with other organs playing a comparatively minor role (Murray *et al.* 1982).

However, this may vary between species and compounds, e.g. furanocoumarins in Pastinaca sativa are formed in the fruits (Zangerl et al. 1989), and furanocoumarins in A. archangelica are formed in the leaves with the exception of osthenol, a simple coumarin, which is probably formed in the roots (Murray et al. 1982). Apiaceae plants are known to accumulate coumarins in oil tubes of the fruit and in the seed coats, as reported in *Pastinaca sativa* (Zangerl et al. 1989). In A. archangelica and Heracleum lanatum, high levels of coumarins were found in the seeds but low levels in the fruit tissues (Zobel and Brown 1991), whereas the seeds of the Rutaceae had much smaller concentrations of furanocoumarins both on the surface and within the seed. Coumarins are also found in the green tissue (e.g. Vuorela 1988, Hadaček 1989). Many plants excrete their coumarins on the leaf surface (Zobel and Brown 1990A, Zobel et al. 1991B). This was monitored by selective extraction of the leaf surface (Zobel and Brown 1988) in Heracleum lanatum, Ferula communis, var. glauca, Pastinaca sativa, Apium graveolens, Pimpinella anisum, Psoralea bituminosa Leguminosae, and Citrus limon Rutaceae. The higher concentration generally observed in spring leaves compared to autumn leaves suggests a higher rate of transfer of these furanocoumarins to the surface in younger leaves. Accumulation on the plant surface indicates they play a role in the defence mechanism of the plant (Zobel and Brown 1990B).

The bergapten level in the petiole and leaf tissue of *Apium graveolens* increased during development and declined only in the later stages of maturity and showed a clear seasonal trend (Trumble et al. 1992). Lois and Hahlbrock (1992) reported that the older leaves of parsley contained more furanocoumarin-specific bergaptol-O-methyltransferases, which may explain this phenomenon. In Heracleum lanatum the amount of coumarins increased up until mid-May, and decreased thereafter until maturity. In the small autumn leaves the coumarin concentration was 2-3 times higher than that in April. A similar analysis of mature Ruta graveolens plants (Zobel and Brown 1990B) revealed that the proportion of bergapten in comparison to psoralen and xanthotoxin increased during senescence. In embryogenic cultures of *P. palustre* the amount of columbianadin and oxypeucedanin increased along with the development of embryos, and in regenerated plants the oxypeucedanin content was the highest in young plants but decreased significantly in 3-month old plants (Härmälä et al. 1992A). In intact plants of *P. palustre* the coumarin content is the highest in the beginning of the growing season, then decreases for approximately 2 weeks, but remains constant during the following 4 weeks. Towards the end of the growing season the coumarin content again begins to increase (Kummala et al. 1993).

Exposure to air pollution-simulating acid fog comprising HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ at pH 2.0 for 4 h increased the coumarin content of the leaves and petioles of Apium graveolens L. approximately fivefold at 120 h after the start of the treatment (Dercks et al. 1990). In the same report, single ozone fumigation at 0.20 ppm for 2 h generally reduced the concentrations of furanocoumarin in the leaves of celery within 24 h, but the levels of these compounds then increased rapidly and the concentrations did not differ significantly at 120 h. Unlike the case with A. graveolens L., spraying Ruta graveolens plants with H₂SO₄ at pH 2.4 or saturated NaCl solutions decreased the total concentration of furanocoumarins (Zobel et al. 1991A). In Petroselinum crispum L. a single ozone treatment (200 nL L⁻¹) for 12 h induced both flavonoid glucoside and furanocoumarin biosynthesis, the furanocoumarin concentration being the highest at 12h and 24 h after initiation of the exposure (Eckey-Kaltenbach et al. 1994). Exposure to 1 mM CuCl₂ and irradiation with short wavelength UV light lead to the accumulation of scopoletin and ayapin in Helianthus annuus (Gutierrez et al. 1995), while long wave UV irradiation had no effect. Celery exposed to CuSO₄, UV light, and cold produced psoralen, bergapten, xanthotoxin, and isopimpinellin. The phytoalexin distribution was found to be temperature dependent. Studies with CuSO₄ exposure showed that the onset of the response was also concentration dependent (Beier and Oertli 1983). In the study of Trumble et al. (1992), pesticides showed no marked effect on furanocoumarin formation in Apium graveolens L., but Nigg et al. (1997) reported that fungicide treatment of a commercial celery cultivar increased bergapten 2-4 times in the leaves and stalk, xanthotoxin 2-3 times in the stalk, and isopimpinellin 2-3 times in the leaves. However, the treatment did not increase the psoralen levels. Coumarins are also active in plant metabolism, taking part in growth regulation (Weinmann, 1997, Matern et al. 1999), and their excretion on the surface of seeds might be a means to delay germination (Zobel and Brown 1991). This could also be the reason for poor germination ability of some species (Ojala 1985).

The distribution of biologically active coumarins in a wide range of plants seems to not only correlate with their ability to act as a response to injury, wilting, chemical or environmental stress factors, but they also act as a defence mechanism against plant diseases or insects (Weinmann, 1997, Matern *et al.* 1999). Coxon *et al.* (1973) showed that scopoletin was formed as a phytoalexin in carrots exposed to ethylene and various fungi. Johnson *et al.* (1973) showed that the inoculation of parsnip root disks with the fungi *Ceratocystis fimbriata*, *Helminthosporium carbonum*, *Alternaria* species or *Colletotricum lindemuthianum*, which are non-pathogens of parsnip, resulted in the accumulation of xanthotoxin which also inhibited the growth of *C. fimbriata*. *A. archangelica* root discs infected *in vitro* with *Aspergillus niger, Fomes fomentarius, Heterobasidion annosum, Inonotus obliquus,* and *Phellinus igniarius* were found to contain increased levels of bergapten, imperatorin, ostruthol, oxypeucedanin, and xanthotoxin. Changes in the concentration of these furanocoumarins were dependent on the time of infection and on the fungus species (Głowniak *et al.* 1994).

Ojala et al. (2000) studied the toxicity of plant extracts from Aegopodium podagraria L., Anethum graveolens L., Angelica archangelica L., Levisticum officinale Koch, Petroselinum crispum (P. Mill.) A.W. Hill., P. palustre (L.) Moench, and Ruta graveolens L. against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, yeasts, mould, and plant pathogenic fungi. Petroselinum crispum and Ruta graveolens extracts showed the highest toxicity against Rhizoctonia solani. The growth of Heterobasidium annosum was inhibited, whereas that of Phytophtora (cactorum) was actually promoted. The anti-bacterial and anti-fungal activities of bergapten, coumarin, herniarin, umbelliferone, xanthotoxin, and scopoletin were weak, except for the inhibitory effect against Fusarium culmorum. Inoculation with a spore suspension of the fungus Helminthosporium turcicum, as well as with aqueous solutions of mercuric chloride and cupric chloride, lead to the production of scopoletin, fraxinol, isopimpinellin, xanthotoxol, and peucedanol in the fresh young leaves of Corchorus olitorius L. (Zeid 2002). Coumarins usually possess only a weak to moderate anti-microbial activity. In defence against micro-organisms other compounds may, however, potentiate the effect of coumarins. Scopoletin was isolated together with vanillin, 4-hydroxy-3methoxycinnamaldehyde, and ±-pinoresinol from the seed kernels of Melia azedarach L. Scopoletin alone showed weak activity but, when combined with the above-mentioned compounds, strong enhancement of the anti-fungal effect was observed (Carpinella et al. 2005).

Virus infections may also stimulate coumarin production. Celery infected with celery mosaic virus or parsnip yellow fleck virus contained angelicin, bergapten, psoralen, trimethylpsoralen, and xanthotoxin, but were not detected in celery plants grown in aseptic culture. They are found only occasionally in apparently healthy plants in the glasshouse (Lord *et al.* 1988).

In order to assess the degree of genetic control over induction, levels of genetic variation, and genetic correlation, induced and constitutive furanocoumarins were measured in two populations of *Pastinaca sativa*. Artificially damaged leaflets of *P. sativa*, as well as undamaged reference leaflets, were analyzed for furanocoumarins. The same plants were used to determine the frequency of attack by leaf-feeding herbivores. Both populations

experienced similar frequencies of attack, but the overall infestation rate varied. The two populations contained significant amounts of genetic variation for constitutive and induced levels of furanocoumarins, and differed significantly in the constitutive levels of two of the furanocoumarins. The population that experienced a low probability of herbivory contained significantly less furanocoumarin. The populations had differing defence strategies that were in accordance with the probability of being attacked, thereby showing that selection can act on the inducibility of plant chemical defences (Zangerl and Berenbaum 1990).

In the interaction between the parsnip webworm larvae (*Depressaria pastinacella*, de Geer), and *Pastinaca sativa*, traits for plant resistance to insect herbivory through the production of defensive furanocoumarins, as well as traits for herbivore virulence through the ability to metabolize furanocoumarins are characterized by continuous heritable variation. The *P. sativa* traits were classified into four clusters describing multi-trait phenotypes occurring in all or most of the populations. When the frequency of plant phenotypes belonging to each of the clusters was compared with the frequency of the insect phenotypes in each of the clusters across the populations, a considerable degree of frequency matching was revealed in 3 of the populations. Such differences among populations may result from cycling caused by frequency-dependent selection. Changes in phenotype frequencies may occur when the plant population develops in order to reduce the level of interaction with the insects, and the insects then develop to increase the level of interaction (Berenbaum and Zangerl 1998).

Hadaček *et al.* (1994) studied the insecticidal activity of 17 coumarins present in *Peucedanum arenarium*, *P. austriacum*, *P. coriaceum*, *P. longifolium*, *P. officinale* L., *P. oreoselinum*, *P. ostruthium* L., and *P. palustre* against *Spodoptera littoralis* (Boisduval) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). The majority of the linear furanocoumarins and the angular dihydrofuranocoumarin athamantin were active. Oxygenation of the prenyl residue of linear furanocoumarins decreased the activity and further esterification with angelic acid lead to inactivity. Active linear furanocoumarins, bergapten, isopimpinellin, and imperatorin, and linear furanocoumarins with a substituted furan ring, peucedanin and 8-methoxypeucedanin, were compared in a dietary utilization bioassay. The relative growth rate (RGR) and relative consumption rate (RCR) divided the coumarins into three groups. Isopimpinellin and peucedanin slightly decreased RGR and RCR of the larvae, and xanthotoxin, isoimperatorin, and 8-methoxypeucedanin strongly decreased RGR and RCR. Bergapten and imperatorin

specific postingestive toxicity. Thus, coumarins are effective in chemical defence, when we assume that chemical diversity is a necessary trait for well-defended plants.

Exposure of leaves of *Apium graveolens* to vapours of methyl jasmonate (MeJa), or feeding the petiole with an aqueous solution of jasmonic acid (JA), markedly increased the levels of natural furanocoumarins, in particular of xanthotoxin and bergapten. The levels of xanthotoxin and bergapten started to increase approx. 24 h after induction, reaching the maximum concentration after 4-6 days (Miksch and Boland 1996). Ellard-Ivey and Douglas (1996) used *Petroselinum crispum* cell cultures and transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum* plants expressing the 4CL1-GUS gene. Jasmonates and α -linolenic acid strongly induced the expression of other phenylpropanoid genes and the accumulation of furanocoumarins. In transgenic wound-inducible tobacco, 4CL genes and a 4CL1 promoter-GUS transgene were dose-dependently responsive to jasmonates and α -linolenic acid. Pre-treatment with a lipoxygenase inhibitor reduced their responsiveness to the elicitor and to wounding, showing that elicitation can be partially mimicked by jasmonate treatment, thereby supporting the role of jasmonates in mediating wound-induced expression of 4CL and other phenylpropanoid genes.

Treatment of *Apium graveolens*, cv. *secalinum* leaves with JA or analogues of aminoacid conjugates of JA such as the leucine conjugate 1-oxoindane-4-carboxylic acid stimulated the biosynthesis of the furanocoumarins psoralen, xanthotoxin, bergapten, and isopimpinellin. In addition to the increase in coumarins within the leaf, a significant amount (20%) of the total furanocoumarins was deposited on the surface of the leaf. Xanthotoxin and bergapten began to increase steadily and simultaneously within the leaf and on the leaf surface 40 h after JA stimulation. Females of the carrot fly (*Chamaepsila rosae*, Psilidae) responded with an increased oviposition to the altered leaf surface chemistry, *i.e.* to the elevated amounts of furanocoumarins (Stanjek *at al.* 1997). Quite the opposite was reported by Black and coworkers in (2003) with leafminers (*Diptera*: Agromyzidae), who demonstrated that conventionally grown celery had more leafminer oviposition stings than the plants treated with JA or untreated control plants, suggesting that in certain cases JA elicitated coumarin induction could be used as an alternative pest repellent.

Transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana* overexpressing JA-carboxyl-methyltransferase (JMT) had a 3-fold elevated level of endogenous MeJa. The expression of the gene was inducible both locally and systemically by wounding or by the MeJa treatment, suggesting that JMT can perceive and respond to local and systemic signals generated by external

stimuli, and the signals may include MeJa itself. The transgenic plants exhibited constitutive expression of jasmonate-responsive genes, and the resistance against the virulent fungus *Botrytis cinerea* was enhanced. Thus, JMT could be a key enzyme for jasmonate-regulated plant responses. Activation of JMT expression leads to the production of MeJa, which acts as an intracellular regulator, an intercellular signal transducer, and an airborne signal in intraand interplant communications (Seo *et al.* 2001).

Wen *et al.* (2006) studied the effects of allelochemicals in host plants of the black swallowtail *Papilio polyxenes* on the xanthotoxin-metabolic activity of CYP6B1, the enzyme responsible for the detoxification of furanocoumarins. The integrity of furanocoumarin structure was shown to be important for competitive binding to the active site of CYP6B1, even though the carbonyl group on the pyranone ring apparently did not affect its inhibitory capacity. Angular furanocoumarins are generally less phototoxic than linear furanocoumarins, but more toxic than linear furanocoumarins, to black swallowtail larvae. This enhanced toxicity *in vivo* may be due to the ability of angular furanocoumarins to bind to the active site of CYP6B1, thereby reducing the availability of CYP6B1 to metabolize other linear furanocoumarins.

6.6 Somatic embryogenesis

The Apiaceae family is known to possess embryogenic ability. Somatic embryogenesis has been reported in over 30 Apiaceae species (see **Table 3**). In theory, all healthy plant cells are totipotent. Plants are thus able to produce morphologically and developmentally normal embryos from undifferentiated somatic cells. This is called somatic embryogenesis, which is the opposite to zygotic embryogenesis resulting from the fertilization of an egg cell. Somatic embryogenesis can be divided into four phases: induction, growth, maturation, and germination (Ammirato 1983). Embryogenesis can start directly from a cell or tissue without previous callus formation, or indirectly with callus formation from which the embryos are subsequently formed. Embryos at the first recognizable stage are globular as they grow in a small cluster of cells. After that they start growing isodiametrically, with heart- and torpedo-shaped stages following (Dudits *et al.* 1991). Characteristic of the globular-to-heart transition is the outgrowth of the two cotyledons, elongation of the hypocotyls, and the start of root development. This is followed by the torpedo stage up to the plantlet. Plantlets can then be transplanted into solid medium for the regeneration of whole plants (Pierik 1987).

Somatic embryogenesis was first described in the international scientific literature in callus and suspension cultures of *Daucus carota* L. (Reinert 1958, Steward *et al.* 1958). Interestingly, Waris in his report on seedlings of *Oenanthe aquatica* L., maintained in culture for long periods without exogenous growth hormones, described a phenomenon that is clearly somatic embryogenesis already in 1957. Thus it is clear that Waris was amongst the very first to observe and report somatic embryogenesis (Waris 1957, Krikorian and Simola 1999). According to Ammirato (1983), it was already possible in 1979 to induce somatic embryogenesis in 132 plant species that are fairly common in the Ranunculaceae, Rutaceae, Solanaceae, Umbelliferae and Gramineae families (Tisserat *et al.* 1979).

Carbohydrates. In the great majority of the reports, standard growing media such as Murashige and Skoog (1962) or Gamborg (1968) media have been utilised with minor modifications, the most commonly used carbohydrate thus being sucrose. Other carbohydrates have also been tested either as carbon sources or as osmotic regulators. Glucose, fructose, galactose, mannose, maltose, raffinose, and stachyose are suitable carbon sources for *Daucus carota* L. embryogenic suspension cultures (Verma and Dougall 1977). Chopra and Khanna reported (1979) that sugar was essential for the rhizogenesis of *Anethum graveolens*, the addition of mannitol prevented cell lysis, increased the number of singular somatic embryos, improved their normal differentiation, and accelerated torpedo embryo development. Experiments designed to reveal the nature of the mannitol effect have demonstrated that the decreased osmotic potential was an important factor, but that isomolar solutions of sucrose alone were not as effective. Huang *et al.* (1993) replaced sucrose with glucose in their fed-batch studies with *Daucus carota* cultures.

Nitrogen source. The composition of the nutrient medium is critical, and attention has focused on the sources and levels of nitrogen, especially of reduced nitrogen. The benefits of reduced nitrogen, in addition to nitrate, for both embryo initiation and maturation are well established. Reduced nitrogen can be supplied as ammonium ions, complex addenda such as casein hydrolysate, or as amino acids. Smith and Krikorian (1989) studied carrot *Daucus carota* on media containing unreduced nitrogen. Somatic embryo formation led to the generation of vigorous cultures comprising entirely of somatic embryos at various stages of development, which, in turn, further proliferated other somatic embryos. However, media with 1-5 mM NH_4^+ as the sole nitrogen source, led to a proliferation of globular proembryos. Sustained sub-culturing of these proembryos at two to three week intervals enabled establishment of highly uniform cultures in which no further development into more mature

stages of embryonic development occurred. A basal medium containing 1-5 mM NH_4^+ as the sole nitrogen source does not appear to be inductive to somatic proembryo formation. Instead, such a medium is best considered to be permissive to the expression of embryogenically determined cells within zygotic embryos.

Niedz (1994) cultured embryogenic callus from *Citrus sinensis* (L.) in 20 media arranged in a 5 x 2 x 2 factorial, with a varying ratio of NO_3^- to NH_4^+ nitrogen, total inorganic nitrogen, and benzyladenine. The fresh weight increase in callus and final pH of the medium were significantly affected by total inorganic nitrogen and the ratio of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ . The NO_3^-/NH_4^+ -ratio accounted for 55% of the variation in the fresh weight increase in callus, and 93% of the variation in the final pH of the medium. Varying the NO_3^-/NH_4^+ -ratio provided adequate pH control.

Barrett *et al.* (1997) investigated the effects of the glutamine-based dipeptides, glutamine, and casein hydrolysate, as well as the deletion of organic nitrogen, during somatic embryogenesis of *Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss. There were no differences in the increase in the fresh weight of the tissue mass grown on initiation medium with different combinations of organic nitrogen. This was also the case for subsequent growth on kinetin medium, except that glutamine alone produced a significantly lower fresh weight increase than the other organic nitrogen combinations. With only inorganic nitrogen in the medium, the fresh weight increase was significantly less than that with organic nitrogen in both the initiation and kinetin medium. No differences were found between the DM/FM ratios among the various nitrogen treatments. The number of mature embryos when cultured in the absence of organic nitrogen was significantly higher than that obtained in its presence. There were no differences in the total number of mature somatic embryos per gram tissue and the total number of somatic embryos produced.

Plant growth regulators. Plant hormones play a critical role in the establishment of somatic embryogenesis. Recent studies have concentrated on the interactions between exogenously added plant growth regulators and the endogenous hormones present in the plant material. The sensitivity of the tissues to various hormones also has a marked position in understanding the phenomenon (Jiménes 2005).

Auxins and cytokinins are commonly used plant growth regulators in media in order to induce embryogenesis, but auxins usually inhibit the further development of embryos. Of all the auxin-like plant growth regulators, 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) has been most

used, but other auxins such as naphtalene acetic acid (NAA), indole acetic acid (IAA), and indole butyric acid (IBA) have also been used frequently. Also IAA-amino acid conjugates have been shown to trigger somatic embryogenesis (Newton and Shea 2006). Cytokinins, as well as gibberellins and abscisic acid (ABA), play an important role in embryogenesis in a number of species (*e.g.* Ammirato 1977).

Kikuchi *et al.* (2006) found a relationship between endogenous ABA and the induction of somatic embryogenesis using the stress-induced system of somatic embryos. Somatic embryo formation was inhibited by the application of fluridone, a potent inhibitor of ABA biosynthesis, during the stress treatment. The inhibitory effect of fluridone was reversed by the concomitant application of fluridone and ABA. The level of endogenous ABA increased transiently during stress. However, somatic embryogenesis was not significantly induced by the application of only ABA to the endogenous level in the absence of stress, suggesting that the induction of somatic embryogenesis, in particular the acquisition of embryogenic competence, is caused not only by the presence of ABA but also by physiological responses that are directly controlled by stresses.

There are cases in which no plant growth regulators are needed for maintaining the embryogenicity (*e.g.* Masuda *et al.* 1977, Smith and Krikorian 1990, Vuorela *et al.* 1993) The gaseous environment also affects the initiation, proliferation, and maturation of somatic embryos (*e.g.* Jay *et al.* 1992, Huang *et al.* 2006).

Overvoorde and Grimes (1994) studied the role of Ca^{2+} and calmodulin in carrot somatic embryo formation. Embryogenic cell clumps were induced to form embryos in medium containing 0-3 mM Ca^{2+} . Embryo formation was not affected until the concentration of Ca^{2+} was lower than 200 mM. Lower concentrations decreased embryo formation. The treatment of developing embryos with Ca^{2+} -channel blockers verapamil or nifedipine, or the Ca^{2+} ionophore A23187, inhibited embryo formation, which suggests that exogenous Ca^{2+} or the maintenance of Ca^{2+} gradients is required for proper embryo development. Mashayekhi and Neumann (2006) showed that another micronutrient, boron, has a strong influence on the development of somatic embryos in the concentration range of 0 to8 mg L⁻¹. At lower boron concentrations the development of roots is promoted with simultaneous retardation of shoot development, and at higher boron concentrations shoot development is favoured over development of the root system. Parallel to this, the ratio between the concentration of endogenous indole-3-acetic acid and total cytokinins changed continuously from 4 (zero boron) to 0.22 (8 mg L⁻¹ boron). An increase in the boron concentration in the nutrient medium generally resulted in a reduced concentration of endogenous abscisic acid.

Table 3: In vitro cultures from Apiaceae species in which embryogenesis and regenerative processes have been studied

Species	Explant	Regeneration stage	Reference
Ammi majus L.	Ovary	Somatic embryos	Sehgal 1972
	Hypocotyl	Somatic embryos	Grewal et al. 1976
	Cotyledonary leave	Shoots, plantlets	Purohit et al. 1995
Ammi visnaga (L.) Lam.	Hypocotyl callus	Somatic embryos	EI-Fiky et al. 1989
	Cotyledonary leave	Somatic embryos	EI-Fiky et al. 1989
Anethum graveolens L.	Petiole, leaf, seedling	Somatic embryos	Schäfer et al. 1986
Angelica acutiloba (Sieb. & Zucc.)	Pedicel	Somatic embryos, plantlets	Nakagawa et al. 1982
Angelica archangelica L.	Seedling, callus suspension	Somatic embryos, plantlets	(III)
Angelica sinensis (Oliv.) Diets.	Callus from root, leaf, petiole,	Somatic embryos, plantlets	Zhang, et al. 1982
	cotyledon, hypercotyl	or adventitious buds	
Angelica sinensis (Oliv.) Diets.	Immature embryo	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Tsay and Huang 1998,
Apium graveolens L.	Petiole callus, suspension	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Williams and Collin 1976
Apium graveolens L.	Petiole callus, suspension	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Nadel et al. 1989
Bupleurum falcatum L.	Leaf callus	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Hiraoka et al. 1986
Carum carvi L.	Petiole	Somatic embryos	Ammirato 1977
	Hypocotyl	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Furmanowa et al. 1984
	Petiole, leaf, seedling	Somatic embryos	Schäfer et al. 1986
Coriandrum sativum L.	Petiole, leaf, seedling	Somatic embryos	Schäfer et al. 1986
	Hypocotyl segment,	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Kim et al. 1996
	zygotic embryo		
	Cotyledon, hypocotyls segments	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Murthy et al. 2008
Cuminum cyminum L.	Hypocotyl, primary leaf explant	Embryos, plantlets	Tawfik and Noga 2002
Daucus carota L	Taproot derived callus	Embryos, plantlets	Steward et al. 1958
Daucus carota L	Taproot derived callus	Embryos, plantlets	Reinert et al. 1958
Eryngium foetidum L	Root, stem disc, leaf,	Plantlets	Martin 2004
	scape explants		
Ferula assa-foetida L.	Hypocotyl explants	Plantlets	Hassani et al. 2008
Foeniculum capillaceum Gilib.	Shoot tip	Shoots and plantlets	Furmanowa et al. 1981
Foeniculum vulgare Miller	Stem and petiole	Somatic embryos, plantlets	Hunault 1984
	Hypocotyl, stem and petiole	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Reichling et al. 1985
Foeniculum vulgare L.	Petiole fragments		Hunault and Mataar 1995
Heracleum candicans Wall	Petiole	Somatic embryos, plantlets	Wakhlu and Sharma 1998
<i>Oneanthe aquatica</i> L.	Callus from seedlings	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Waris 1957
Petroselinum crispum L.	Petiole, leaf and, seedling	Somatic embryos	Schäfer et al. 1986
Peucedanum palustre L. (Moench)	Callus, suspension	Somatic embryos, plantlets, plants	Vuorela et al. 1993
Pimpinella anisum L.	Hypocotyl callus, suspension	Somatic embryos	Ernst and Oesterhelt 1984
	Petiole, leaf, seedling	Somatic embryos	Schäfer et al. 1986
	Root explant	Somatic embryos	Bela and Shetty 1999
Thapsia garcanica L.	Suspension, callus	Somatic embryos	Jäger <i>et al.</i> 1993
Trachyspermum ammi (L.) Sprague	Hypocotyl explant	Somatic embryos, plants	Jasrai et al. 1992

Micropropagation. Somatic embryogenesis has been recognized as a viable means of regenerating plants from cell cultures. It offers an alternative technique for mass production (see **Table 3**). Naturally, the nature of the plant in question is a decisive factor in the economical feasibility of the process. Micropropagation is a method of vegetative plant propagation in *in vitro* culture. It guarantees, among other things, that the resulting plants are of the same genotype and phenotype. It allows the propagation of plants that cannot form seeds due to unsuitable climatic conditions or if the germination ability is poor for other reasons (Ojala 1985, Zobel and Brown 1991). What should not be forgotten is that somatic
embryogenesis may elevate the probability of mutations. The repetition of sub-culturing may also lead to the loss of regenerative capacity (Pierik 1987).

7 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The project was based on the importance of coumarins in Apiaceae family plants as possible lead compounds for drug discovery. The poor germination ability of some Apiaceae plants leads to problems in the industrial cultivation of these plants. As a result, alternative propagation methods are needed.

The main goal of the project was to create an overall protocol for coumarin analytics. The goal was also to maximise coumarin production, to optimise plant cell production, and to investigate the micropropagation possibilities offered by embryogenesis.

The aims of the study were:

- to develop analytical methods for fast and reliable screening of coumarins, the main secondary metabolites of the *Peucedanum* and *Angelica* plants (I).
- to investigate the chemotaxonomic characteristics of the Finnish *Peucedanum palustre* populations, with the focus on coumarin production in order to find the best lines for the future development of suitable plants for plant propagation (II).
- to generate a spontaneously embryogenic cell line of *Angelica archangelica* and to examine the possibilities of *in vitro* plant propagation by means of bioreactor technology (III).
- to improve the growing conditions of the *in vitro* plant cultures, with special emphasis on optimisation of the cultivation medium (**IV**).

8 EXPERIMENTAL

A detailed description of the materials and methods can be found in the original publications (I) - (IV).

8.1 Chemicals

Columbianadin and apterin were isolated and identified from *P. palustre* (L.) Moench, and imperatorin, isoimperatorin, osthol, oxypeucedanin, and phellopterin from *A. archangelica* (L.) at the Division of Pharmacognosy, Dept. of Pharmacy, University of Helsinki, Finland. Isopimpinellin and xanthotoxin were obtained from Carl Roth GmbH & Co (Karlsruhe, Germany), bergapten and umbelliferone from Fluka Chemie AG (Buchs, Switzerland), and ostruthol from Serva (Heidelberg, Germany). Jasmonic acid was from (Sigma Chemicals Go, St. Louis, USA). HPLC-quality acetonitrile (MeCN), methanol (MeOH) and tetrahydrofurane (THF) were from Rathburn Chemicals Ltd, (Walkerburn, Scotland), and formic acid Suprapur[®] and ammonium acetate (analytical grade) from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany).

8.2 Sample preparation

For (I) the root and umbel samples of *P. palustre* (L.) Moench were collected from intact plants in Kaunissaari, Finland (60° 11′ N, 25° 22′ E). *A. archangelica var. archangelica* root samples were from intact plants collected at Seipikangas, Finland (65° 41′ N, 27° 17′ E), and the regenerated leaves from the cell line described in (III). In (II) 132 whole flowering, healthy plants of *P. palustre* of similar size and were collected from 43 sites in southern and central Finland between 59 ° 35′ and 65° 29′ N and between 21° 14′ and 29° 22′ E in late July- early August, 1988. The different plant organs were separated, dried, and stored at room temperature. In (III) and (IV), the plant material was removed from the medium by vacuum filtration and lyophilised. The plant samples were prepared by extracting 50-100 mg of dried and pulverised plant material with 2-3 mL of MeOH for 20 min. After extraction, the samples were centrifuged (1500 G) and 5 to 50 μ L of the supernatant was used for HPLC analysis (I-IV).

8.3 Chromatographic analysis

The column used for method development (I) was a RP-C18 phenomenex[®] Prodigy (3 μ , 100 x 4.6 mm i.d., Torrance, CA, USA). The samples were analysed using UV detection at

320 nm with a flow rate of 1mL min⁻¹. The HPLC system used in method development consisted of a Perkin Elmer Series 200 LC pump and autosampler (Norwalk, CT, USA), and a Perkin Elmer LC 235C diode array detector at the scanning wavelength of 195-365 nm. The system was controlled by means of a Digital Venturis 575 computer including the LC method optimisation programmes, Turbo Method Development[®] (Perkin Elmer, Norwalk, CT, USA) and DryLab[®] (LC Resources, Walnut Creek, CA, USA). The MS facility for identification was a PE Sciex API 300 LC/MS/MS triple quadrupole system (Sciex, Toronto, Canada) with a heated nebulizer atmospheric pressure chemical ionisation (APCI) interface, and two Series 200 Micro LC pumps. Simultaneous UV chromatogram data were detected by a PE 785A UV/VIS detector connected to the computer by means of a PE Nelson 900 Series Interface (Norwalk, CT, USA). The MS and UV data were handled and the whole apparatus controlled by a Macintosh Power PC computer (Apple Computer Inc., Cork City, Ireland).

In (II) the coumarins were analysed by HPLC according to Vuorela *et al.* (1989) using isocratic runs with UV detection at 320 nm with a flow rate of 1mL min⁻¹. Identification of the coumarins was confirmed with the reference from (I). The HPLC system consisted of a Waters 660 System controller, HPLC Pump 510 and HPLC Pump 6000 A (Waters Associates, Milford, MA, USA) and a Philips LC 871 UV/VIS -detector (Pye Unicam Ltd, Cambridge, England), coupled to a Hewlett-Packard Integrator plotter 3390A (Pennsylvania, USA). The column used was μ Bondapak C-18, 10 μ m, 300 × 7.8 mm i.d. (Waters Associates, Milford, MA, USA).

In (III) and (IV) the coumarin determinations were carried out by the HPLC system consisting of a Waters 600E system controller, multisolvent delivery system, Waters 717 autosampler, photodiode array detector 991 (Waters Corporation, Milford, USA), and a C-18 LiChroCART[®] 250-4 Hypersil ODS (5 μ m) column (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany). Identification of the coumarins in the regenerated plants was based on standard compounds, retention times in HPLC, and UV and mass spectra.

8.4 Plant cell cultures in the growing experiments (III)

The embryogenic cell line of *A. archangelica* (L.) subsp. *archangelica* was established from surface-sterilized, peeled seeds that were germinated in the dark on a solid medium containing 75.0% of a hormone-free, modified B5 medium (Gamborg *et al.* 1968), 2.0% (m/v) sucrose and 0.80% (m/v) agar. Embryo formation started spontaneously via sub-cultured callus from callus-forming seedlings. The liquid cultures were carried out at 25 ± 2 °C

under a 16-h photoperiod in basal B5 medium. During maintenance and the studies, the embryogenic cultures were sub-cultured every three weeks and synchronized every six weeks by sieving. The growth rate of the culture was measured by cultivating 100 ± 5 mg of stock culture per flask for 70 d. Samples were taken three times during the first week and then once a week. For cryopreservation about 100 embryos (size < 250 µm) were transferred to cryotubes (Nunc A/S, Roskilde, Denmark) and pre-chilled B5 medium containing 1 M glycerol was added. The tubes were kept at +4 °C for 1 h, with periodic swirling, and the temperature then lowered gradually to -35 °C. After that the tubes were inserted into liquid nitrogen. The optimum carbon source for the cell line was studied using sucrose, glucose, fructose, and xylose. The concentration ranges used in the experiments were 0.50 - 4.5% (m/v) for sucrose, 1.1 - 6.3% (m/v) for glucose and fructose, and 0.88 - 4.3% (m/v) for xylose. The cultures were sub-cultured three times every three weeks. The effect of JA was studied by adding JA-containing medium to the culture flasks after 26 d of cultivation. The concentration range was from 0.1 to 500 µM and elicitation time 24 - 120 h.

For propagation, the embryogenic cell line was cultivated in an air-sparged, 5-dm^3 bioreactor (see **Figure 4**) with forced aeration (3 dm⁻³ min⁻¹) for 28 days. The reactor was filled with medium and inoculated with 10.0 g dm⁻³ of 3-week-old stock culture. Biomass production improvement was studied using a fed-batch procedure by adding 100 cm³ of sterilized 60% (m/v) sucrose solution twice a week to the reactor. In the exponential growth phase of the culture, the plantlets were transplanted directly into a mixture of soil and vermiculite (30:70). The plantlets were kept under glass at + 18 °C for the first three weeks and then transferred to soil and greenhouse conditions. The plant material was separated from the medium by vacuum filtration, weighed and lyophilized for dry mass determination. The sucrose, glucose, and fructose concentrations of the media were determined using an enzyme-coupled colorimetric assay described by Hendrix (1993).

For the CELLOP studies (**IV**) the same culturing conditions were used as in (**III**). Embryogenic cell lines of *A. archangelica* L. subsp. *archangelica* grown on a 75% (v/v) B5 basal medium, and *P. palustre* (L.) Moench (Vuorela *et al.* 1993) grown on 100% B5 basal medium, were used as reference. The experiments were carried out simultaneously with both cultures and 20 different experimental culturing media designed using the PRISMA culturing medium mixture design with eight replicates in each medium. Three nutrients, calcium (x₁), inorganic nitrogen (NO₃⁻/NH₄⁺) (x₂), and sucrose (x₃), were the explanatory variables in the design.



Figure 4. Air-sparged, 5-dm³ bioreactor (Laborexin Oy, Helsinki, Finland; working volume 3 dm³, height 300 mm, ø 230 mm) used in the propagation experiment (unpublished data).

8.5 Optimisation design for plant cell cultures (IV)

8.5.1 Mixture design and regression models

The CELLOP model can be visualised as a three-dimensional geometric design, a prism, in which the data points (P_d) in the horizontal part of the design represent different culturing medium mixtures. The data points can be depicted as three-number co-ordinates that represent the concentration ratios of the selected explanatory variables calcium, inorganic nitrogen (*i.e.* NO₃⁻/NH₄⁺), and sucrose, calculated so that the middle point 0.333:0.333:0.333 is the hormone-free Gamborg B5 basal medium. The vertical dimension symbolises the total strength of the medium mixtures. For the *A. archangelica* cultures the culturing media were diluted to 75% of the original strength.

Statistical models were constructed to predict the behaviour of the plant material in the experimental set-up using data from the growing experiments to find optimal conditions for growth and coumarin production. As the sum of the mixture component levels always equals one, the models for the responses (R_p) can be written in terms of two of the nutrients only. The regression models for the responses, linear, full quadratic or canonical model in

which the data points are described explicitly, were used to define the optimum in CELLOP. The best fitting regression model can be selected for each response variable separately.

8.5.2 Desirability functions

The desirability functions (Deming 1991) provide a means for defining the "desirable" and "undesirable" values of separate responses in the investigated system, and for combining them in an overall desirability function. The desirabilities for each response variable are defined separately, with a value of 0 for an unsatisfactory level of response and 1 when the desired level has been reached. The desirability functions of the individual response variables convert the calculated response values of dry mass (DM) (y₁) [g dm⁻³ (medium)], and coumarin concentration (y₂) [µg g⁻¹ DM] into the unitless desirability values (D): $0 \le D$ (R_p) ≤ 1 . The desirability for the response, D(R_p), is expressed with a logistic function D(R_p)=1/1+e^{(-Rp-Rp0)/\delta}, where R_p0 is the selected "mean response value" and δ is the "deviation" selected on the basis of the expected characteristics of the system. The overall desirability (D_o) is defined as the product, geometric mean D_o = (d₁ d₂....d_m)^(1/m) where d₁ d₂....d_m are the desirability functions of each response variable.

8.6 Statistical analysis

In (II) factor and cluster analyses were performed on the coumarin compositions in plants with SYSTAT 10.2 (SPSS; USA) software. The following expressions are used for P values of the correlation analysis results: significant P < 0.05, very significant P > 0.01, and highly significant P > 0.001. The effective temperature sums of the sampling locations used in the statistical analyses are based on the publication by Laaksonen (1979). The effect of JA on the coumarin composition in plant cell cultures (III) was studied statistically with SYSTAT 6.01 for Windows (SYSTAT Inc.; USA). As in Outinen *at al.* (1998), the data for CELLOP (IV) were processed by MATLAB version 5, student edition (Mathworks, Sherbon, MA, USA) with the data analysis toolbox on MATLAB (Profmath, Helsinki, Finland). A windowed graphical user interface was created for data handling and graphical assessment of the response surfaces.

9 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

9.1 HPLC method development

Method development was initiated by carrying out seven isocratic runs of a *P. palustre* root extract with the eluent compositions suggested by the Turbo Method Development[®] programme. Due to the large number of peaks, automatic processing of the results with the Turbo Method Development[®] programme was insufficient. Thus the best resolution had to be selected manually. The selected isocratic eluent contained 60% of MeOH and 40% of 1% formic acid solution. Of the 1% formic acid and 10 mM ammonium acetate solutions, the acidic eluent proved to be superior with regard to peak shape and ionisation sensitivity in the initial LC/MS runs.

Two linear gradient runs with 20 - 95% MeOH in 20 and 60 min (see **Figures 5A** and **5B**) were performed. In total 36 peaks, separated and identified on the basis of the peak areas, was studied with an algorithm in DryLab[®] programme. As the a linear gradient of 29% - 100% MeOH in 15.3 min, proposed by DryLab[®], did not lead to a satisfactory separation, it was manually segmented first to 0-12 min: 0-60% MeOH (linear gradient), 12-14min: 60% MeOH (isocratic), 14-25 min: 60-100% MeOH (linear gradient), and 25-35 min: 100% MeOH (isocratic), and then developed further to 0-6 min: 0-30% MeOH (linear gradient), 6-12 min: 30-60% (linear gradient); 12-14 min 60% MeOH (isocratic), 14-25 min: 60-100% MeOH; and 25-35 min: 100% MeOH (isocratic) (**Figure 5C**), enabling a satisfactory separation in 30 min. As the switch for formic acid from 1.0% to 0.1% did not markedly affect the retention time, peak shape or area, the plant extracts were analysed using the 0.1% formic acid solution as the aqueous phase.

The gradient system optimised with DryLab[®] was transferred to the HPLC system coupled to the MS apparatus operating in positive mode. The gradient was delayed by 2 min due to the decrease in dwell volume. Pure substances were analysed in order to obtain the retention time, UV spectrum, and MS spectrum data. Columbianadin, apterin, pimpinellin, psoralen, xanthotoxin, bergapten, isopimpinellin, imperatorin, isoimperatorin, oxypeucedanin, phellopterin ostruthol, osthol, and umbelliferone were identified by comparing the retention times and MS data of the sample runs with the respective data of pure substances. Columbianadin oxide, peulustrin/isopeulustrin, xanthotoxol, oxypeucedanin hydrate, isobyakangelicin angelate, osthenol, and umbelliprenin were identified on the basis of UV spectra, MS spectrum data, and the literature (for structures see **Figures 1-3**).



Figure 5.(A) Linear gradient run 20 min: 20-95% MeOH of the *P. palustre* root extract, (**B**) linear gradient run 60 min: 20-95% MeOH of the *P. palustre* root extract, and (**C**) segmented gradient run 0-6 min: 0-30% MeOH (linear gradient), 6-12 min: 30-60% (linear gradient); 12-14 min 60% MeOH (isocratic), 14-25 min: 60-100% MeOH; and 25-35 min: 100% MeOH (isocratic) of the *P. palustre* root extract (unpublished data). Identified coumarins were (1) oxypeucedanin hydrate, (2) xanthotoxin, (3) isopimpinellin, (4) pimpinellin, (5) bergapten, (6) oxypeucedanin, (7) peulustrin, (8) isopeulustrin, (9) isobyakangelicin angelate, (10) ostruthol, (11) columbianadin oxide, (12) isoimperatorin, (13) columbianadin, and (14) umbelliprenin.

9.1.1 *P. palustre*

A total of 13 coumarins were identified in the roots and 12 in the umbels of the *P. palustre* (see **Table 2**), the main coumarins being oxypeucedanin, ostruthol, columbianadin, and isoimperatorin, accounting for over 75% of the total coumarin content. The majority of the other detected peaks were less than 1% of the total peak area. Two of the main peaks, isoimperatorin and columbianadin, overlapped, but the extracted ion chromatogram (XIC) clearly showed two different compounds with almost the same retention time. Two peaks with the retention times of isopimpinellin and pimpinellin with matching *m/z* values at 247.4 ($[M+H]^+$) and 279.4 ($[M+H+MeOH]^+$) = were found in the *P. palustre* root samples (**Figure 6**). The XIC run revealed the presence of only one compound in the root with *m/z* values of 345.1 and 377.4, corresponding to $[M+H]^+$ and $[M+H+MeOH]^+$ of columbianadin oxide (MW = 344), respectively. So far, columbianadin oxide has only been reported in the fruits of *P. palustre* (Murray 1982). Only one peak with *m/z* values of 417.4 ($[M+H]^+$) and 445.3 ($[M+H+MeOH]^+$) was present, indicating the presence of isobyakangelicin angelate (MW = 416).

Of the previously reported compounds (Murray 1982), umbelliprenin was also found for the first time in the roots, as evidenced by the m/z values 367.5 ([M+H]⁺) and 399.3 ([M+H+MeOH]⁺). Umbelliprenin could not be detected with the HPLC method utilised in (**II**). This study demonstrates the superiority of the gradient method over the isocratic method. The XIC run revealed traces of peulustrin/isopeulustrin with a m/z value of 445.3 ([M+H]⁺) in the *P. palustre* roots. Further analysis would have required reference substances. The main compounds in the *P. palustre* root samples, oxypeucedanin and columbianadin, as well as umbelliprenin in the umbel samples, gave even double MeOH adducts [M+H+2MeOH]⁺, the corresponding m/z values for oxypeucedanin being 351.4, for columbianadin 393.4, and for umbelliprenin 431.7. An XIC run of a *P. palustre* root sample between 216.8 and 217.8 amus revealed the existence of two compounds (**Figure 7A**). These gave m/z values of 217.5 and 249.3, which match the [M+H]⁺ and [M+H+MeOH]⁺ of both xanthotoxin and bergapten (**Figures 7B, C**). This finding was confirmed by matching retention times with the xanthotoxin and bergapten standards. Xanthotoxin has not been reported in *P. palustre* earlier (unpublished data).



Figure 6. Mass spectrum of isopimpinellin (A) and pimpinellin (B) in the root samples of *P. palustre* (unpublished data).

Umbels of *P. palustre* have not been earlier analysed for coumarins. The main constituents in the umbels were peulustrin/isopeulustrin, ostruthol, columbianadin, isoimperatorin, and umbelliprenin. As in the roots, two peaks were found in the *P. palustre* umbels with retention times and m/z values of 247.4 ([M+H]⁺) and 279.4 ([M+H+MeOH]⁺) corresponding to those of isopimpinellin and pimpinellin. However, Hadaček *et al.* (1994) reported that isopimpinellin is present in the roots of other *Peucedanum* species.

The XIC (m/z = 445) of the umbel sample gave two overlapping peaks, indicating the presence of peulustrin and isopeulustrin. Due to the small difference in the molecular structure, co-elution of these coumarins is probable. Peulustrin has been reported in the roots, leaves, stems, and fruits of *P. palustre* (Hadaček 1989) and isopeulustrin in the fruits (Murray *et al.* 1982). Apterin tends to lose the sugar moiety (MW = 162) because the mass peak of the aglucone [M-Glu+H]⁺ (m/z = 263) was present.



Figure 7. (A) XIC run of the root sample of *P. palustre* showing the presence of two compounds with a m/z value of 217.5 *i.e.* xanthotoxin and bergapten, (B) mass spectrum of xanthotoxin (m/z 217.5 = [M+H]⁺, m/z 249.3 = [M+H+MeOH]⁺), and (C) mass spectrum of bergapten (m/z 217.5 = [M+H]⁺, m/z 249.3 = [M+H+MeOH]⁺, unpublished data).

The XIC run from m/z 304.8-305.8 (oxypeucedanin hydrate MW = 304) gave three separate peaks, and the XIC run from m/z 286.8-287.8 (oxypeucedanin MW = 286) two peaks. These findings indicate the presence of isooxypeucedanin. This can also be deduced on the basis of previous reports (Murray *et al.* 1982).

The detection of pimpinellin and isopimpinellin in *P. palustre* is mainly due to the sensitivity of the MS instrument here applied for the first time in the analysis of *P. palustre*. The MS spectra of the main compounds in the *P. palustre* root samples, oxypeucedanin and columbianadin, as well as umbelliprenin in the umbel samples, were further characterised with m/z values corresponding to $[M+H+2MeOH]^+$ (m/z 351.4 for oxypeucedanin, 393.4 for columbianadin, and 431.7 for umbelliprenin).

9.1.2 A. archangelica

14 coumarins were identified in the roots, oxypeucedanin hydrate and oxypeucedanin being the main compounds (see **Table 1**). The XIC data also indicated the presence of osthenol, because a single peak was found that corresponded with the protonated molecule $([M+H]^+)$ of osthenol at m/z 231.3. Detectable amounts of angular furanocoumarins were not present in the analysed samples. Five coumarins were identified in the regenerated angelica leaves, the main compounds being xanthotoxin and isopimpinellin. Angular furanocoumarins were not detected. The coumarin concentrations in the regenerated leaves of *A. archangelica* were minute, but the concentration range of the identified compounds was also much smaller. This is most probably due to the fact that leaf size and seasonal variation have been found to affect the coumarin concentration of Apiaceae plants (Zobel and Brown 1990B, Trumble *et al.* 1992). Apart from the non-polar umbelliprenin, no simple coumarins were found in the regenerated leaves. Two peaks, with the same mass as oroselone (MW = 258), were found in both the roots and regenerated leaves of *A. archangelica*.

9.2 Coumarin composition of Finnish *P. palustre*

The analytical method allowed the identification of seven coumarins in *P. palustre, i.e.* oxypeucedanin hydrate, ostruthol, oxypeucedanin, bergapten, (iso-)peulustrin, isobyakangelicin angelate, and columbianadin. Distinguishing between structurally closely related peulustrin and isopeulustrin was not possible with the analytical method used in this study, and the compound is therefore referred to as (iso-)peulustrin in the text. Additionally,

six other compounds were also identified as coumarins but further structure elucidation proved to be difficult.

The total coumarin content varied markedly in different plant parts, being the highest in the umbels. The leaves and roots contained comparable amounts of coumarins. The lowest concentration was in the stems, being approximately one half of that in the root samples (see **Figure 8**). The main coumarins in the roots were oxypeucedanin and columbianadin. The stems contained predominantly (iso-)peulustrin, compound B, and oxypeucedanin. In the leaves the main components were (iso-)peulustrin and compound B. (Iso-)peulustrin was also the main component of the umbels. The other major coumarin in umbels was oxypeucedanin (see **Figure 9**).



Figure 8. Mean concentrations (mg/g dry weight) of coumarins in the different plant organs of *P. palustre* (unpublished data).

The aerial parts mainly contained angular furanocoumarins, (iso-)peulustrin being clearly the largest component as it accounted for approximately 75% of the identified angular furanocoumarins. In the stem samples the amount of angular furanocoumarins was also higher, although they also contained approximately 20% of linear furanocoumarins (see **Figure 9**).

The highest total coumarin concentrations were found in southern Finland, and the concentrations decreased on moving towards the north. The negative correlations between the total coumarin concentration in umbels and leaves versus latitude were highly significant and that of the stems significant. Of all the coumarins, (iso-)peulustrin had the strongest negative correlation between concentration and latitude. The correlation was highly significant for umbels, leaves and roots, and for stems it was very significant. The columbianadin concentration in the roots correlated highly significantly with latitude and the correlation was positive, *i.e.* the columbianadin concentration in the roots increased towards the north.



Figure 9. Proportion of coumarins out of the total coumarin content in different plant organs in *P. palustre* (unpublished data).

The effect of latitude of the growing location on the furanocoumarin content of *P*. *palustre* has not been studied earlier. The results indicate that the total coumarin concentration of *P. palustre* specimens growing in Finland decreases with latitude. The only plant organ without any significant correlation between the coumarin concentration and latitude was the root, and this may due to the storage function of subterraneous parts. In contrast to other detected coumarins, the concentration of the angular furanocoumarin columbianadin was found to increase with latitude. A similar qualitative, but not quantitative,

latitude-associated gradient in the concentration of foliar flavonoids and condensed tannins has been reported for white birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) growing in different locations around Finland (Stark *et al.* 2008). No correlation was found between the concentrations of total flavonoids and condensed tannins and latitude, even though the concentrations of quercetin derivatives correlated positively with latitude and the concentrations of apigenin and naringenin derivatives negatively with latitude, thereby cancelling each other out. For Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), the terpenoid composition of a population growing in Finland was found to differ from populations growing in various parts of Turkey with regard to three monoterpenes, 3-carene, myrcene and terpinolene, but there were no significant differences in the concentrations of resin acids (Semiz *et al.* 2007). When studying the essential root oil of *A. arcangelica*, Ojala *et al.* (1986) also found that the concentration of 3-carene increased on moving from the south towards the north.

9.2.1 Correlations between plant organs

Coumarins in the roots had a positive, highly significantly correlation with a total of 12 coumarins present in the stems. The highest correlations were found between isobyakangelicin angelate in the roots and coumarin E in the stems, oxypeucedanin in the roots and stems, and oxypeucedanin hydrate in the roots and (iso-)peulustrin in the stems. Between the root and leaf coumarins, (iso-)peulustrin in the roots and coumarin G in the leaves had a highly significant positive correlation, and columbianadin in the roots and coumarins G in the stems a highly significant negative correlation. Root and umbel coumarins had the least number of highly and very significant correlations. Of all the aerial parts of *P. palustre*, the stem coumarins had clearly the highest correlations with the root coumarins, followed by leaf and umbel coumarins. Based on correlation matrix analysis, the coumarin content of the umbels and leaves were the most similar. Identification of the unknown coumarins detected in this study would be necessary in order to carry out a more comprehensive evaluation of the correlation, which would possibly provide a better insight into the biosynthesis of coumarins in *P. palustre*.

9.2.2 Correlations with the effective temperature sum

The total coumarin concentration correlated highly positively with the effective temperature sums of the respective sampling locations, the effective temperature sum ranging from 940 at the northernmost site at Iivaara, Kuusamo, to 1340 in Hamina, Virojoki, and

Rymättylä. The total coumarin concentrations of the umbels and leaves correlated positively to a highly significant degree with the effective temperature sum and the total coumarin concentration of the stems significantly. Based on correlation matrix analysis, the effective temperature sums clearly correlated with the coumarin concentrations of the aerial parts of *P. palustre*, but not with the roots. As earlier studies have shown, the coumarin content of *P. palustre* remains relatively constant during the first 40 days of the growing season (Kummala *et al.* 1993). The effect of effective temperature sum on the coumarin content cannot be explained by the plants being in different phoenological stages as all the collected plants were in the same growing phase and of similar size.

9.2.3 Cluster analysis

The existence of chemotypes could not be confirmed because cluster analysis did not reveal any division of the plant material into separate groups. This was mainly due to the high internal variation within the plant populations and to the variation between the plant populations. The main coumarins in the Finnish *P. palustre* populations, especially in the roots, corresponded well with the findings of Hadaček (1989). In both Finnish and Austrian populations the main coumarins in the roots were oxypeucedanin and columbianadin. The main difference was the higher concentration of (iso-)peulustrin in the Finnish plants and the higher concentration of ostruthol in the Austrian plants. The aerial parts, however, differed markedly from the results presented in Hadaček (1989). (Iso-)peulustrin was clearly the main coumarin in all the aerial parts of the Finnish plants, followed by oxypeucedanin and the unidentified coumarin B. The main coumarin in the stems and leaves in the Austrian plant populations, ostruthol, was found only in trace amounts in the Finnish plants. The results imply that, in general. Finnish populations differ from the Austrian population reported by Hadaček (1989).

The high concentration of the angular furanocoumarins, (iso-)peulustrin and columbianadin, is the most characteristic feature of Finnish *P. palustre* populations. One hypothesis explaining this phenomenon could be evolutionary response to endemic stress factors (Berenbaum and Zangerl 1998) caused by abiotic factors such as fungal and viral infections (*e.g.* Heath-Pagliuso *et al.* 1992, Ataga *et al.* 1993, Churngchow and Rattarasarn 2001, Repčák *et al.* 2001). It seems likely that several factors may contribute to the overall environmental stress experienced by the plants and the local furanocoumarin composition.

9.3 Somatic embryogenesis and propagation

The embryo formation capacity of the stock cultures of the *A. archangelica* cell line remained stable. The stock culture maintained its viability after cryopreservation. Transfer onto any new intermediate induction or development media was employed, which is often needed to achieve the subsequent developmental stages of embryogenesis or tissue formation (*e.g.* Laurain *et al.* 1996). No coumarins were detected in the isolated somatic embryo fractions (n = 4), but they were present in the developed plantlets. JA had no statistically significant effect on coumarin formation. JA and MeJa and other jasmonates are known to trigger coumarin production in intact Apiaceae plants, as well as in some plant cell cultures (Ellard-Ivey and Douglas 1996, Miksch and Boland 1996, Stanjek *et al.* 1997). Due to the low biosynthetic activity of the *A. archangelica* cell line the cells did not possess biosynthetic capacity to produce coumarins.

The *A. archangelica* culture grew slowly in the suspension culture, the highest dry mass (DM) and coumarin content being reached on day 56. The DM/FM ratio remained constant at 1/10 throughout the experiment. In corresponding studies, *P. palustre* cultures reached the maximum DM in four weeks (Vuorela *et al.* 1993) and in *A. sinensis* cultures already within 10 to 12 days (Tsay and Huang 1998). After eight weeks all the sugars had been utilized and the medium and plant material turned brownish and microscopic examination showed that cell had taken place.

9.3.1 Selection of carbon source

Sucrose, glucose, and xylose were tested to find the best carbon source. The DM in the sucrose-containing media varied between 132 ± 13 mg flask⁻¹ to 371 ± 21 mg flask⁻¹ (mean \pm SD), reaching a maximum at 3.0% sucrose. The coumarin production of the culture was the highest, 5.72 ± 0.15 mg g⁻¹ (mean \pm SD), in the same medium. In *in vitro* studies on other plants in the Apiaceae family, callus cultures of *Pastinaca sativa* L. and *Ammi majus* L. were reported to produce up to 4.09 and 1.63 mg g⁻¹ coumarins, respectively (Ekiert and Gomólka 2000, Ekiert 2000). It has earlier been shown that more developed stages of embryos of *P. palustre* produce larger amounts of coumarins (up to 5.62 mg g⁻¹), and are the highest (40.8 mg g⁻¹) and most diverse in the regenerated plant leaves (Härmälä *et al.* 1992A). Although growth was similar in the glucose media (from 156 ± 11 mg flask⁻¹ to 296 ± 16 mg flask⁻¹) as in the sucrose media, coumarin formation was clearly lower (coumarin content 1.59 ± 0.29 mg g⁻¹ at 3.0% glucose). When the initial sucrose concentration was increased, the appearance of the cultures gradually changed from greenish plantlets to white embryogenic cell clusters. On the other hand, when the media contained only traces of monosaccharides after cultivation, the *A. archangelica* embryos regenerated readily into plantlets. Glucose, fructose, galactose, mannose, maltose, raffinose, and stachyose have been shown to be suitable carbon sources for carrot cultures (Verma and Dougall 1977, Uozumi *et al.* 1991, Huang *et al.* 1993). In this case, fructose inhibited embryo formation and the cultures remained viable only at the lowest concentration (1.1%). This is also supported by the fact that, in the sucrose experiment, the residual amount of fructose was markedly high in the media with initial sucrose concentrations above 2% (m/v), indicating that the ability of *A. archangelica* cultures to utilise fructose is very limited (**Figure 10**). The embryos did not survive in xylose-containing media.



Figure 10. Accumulation of glucose, fructose and, sucrose in the growing media of *A*. *archangelica* embryogenic culture in relation to the initial sucrose concentration (unpublished data).

9.3.2 Propagation studies

In the bioreactor batch cultivation, the biomass production of the embryogenic A. *archangelica* culture was 2.3 g (FM) d⁻¹. As in the carbon source experiments, a higher sucrose concentration in the sucrose feeding experiments led to activation of embryogenesis

and the prevention of plantlet formation. Propagation studies were therefore carried out with plantlets from the bioreactor experiments without sucrose feeding. In this case plantlets were formed readily without any change of medium or addition of growth regulators. Shoots and roots developed simultaneously, and new embryo formation also continued at the same time. Similar behaviour has been reported in earlier work on P. palustre (Vuorela et al. 1993). After direct transfer from the bioreactor to unsterile conditions, 63% (n = 32) of the plantlets survived. The regenerated plants showed no morphological differences from normal plantlets as regards leaf, stem, or root formation (Figure 11). The coumarin content of the leaves of the regenerated 3-month-old plants (n = 9) varied between 1.95 and 8.06 mg g^{-1} , being somewhat lower than in intact plants from the same area as the mother plant, but the qualitative coumarin composition corresponded to that of intact plants (Ojala 2001). Seasonal changes in the coumarin content of Apiaceae plants are also known to be marked (Zobel and Brown 1990B, Trumble et al. 1992, Lois and Hahlbrook 1992). The stability of the A. archangelica cell line, the good viability of the A. archangelica plantlets in soil propagated in a simple air-sparged bioreactor, and the simplicity of direct transfer into pots, make the developed method a promising means for the economical production of large amounts of A. archangelica plants for field cultivation.



Figure. **11**. Propagated plantlets of *A. archangelica* immediately after transfer and after 3 weeks of cultivation (unpublished data).

9.4 CELLOP and optimisation of the growing conditions

On the basis of the average biomass (DM) and coumarin content, the "mean response value" Rp0 was set to 9.55 and "deviation" $\delta = 2.80$, $R_p0 = 9.55$; (6.75 $\leq R_p \leq 12.4$) and for coumarin content Rp0 = 5160; (2890 $\leq R_p \leq 7430$). The respective values for *P. palustre* were DM Rp0 = 10.75; (5.85 $\leq R_p \leq 15.65$) and the coumarin content Rp0 = 14790; (8330 $\leq R_p \leq 21250$). The full quadratic model was used for calculating the final results because it predicted the behaviour of the DM and coumarin content in both cultures better than the linear model (see **Tables 4** and **5**). The biomass production was easier to predict than the coumarin content, the r² values being clearly higher for the DM despite the regression model used.

The model suggested one clear overall optimum area for both cultures in the experiments. With *A. archangelica,* the overall optimum was located near the sucrose corner, in which the highest dry mass and coumarin content were reached, the dry mass being 24.6% and the coumarin content 40.5% higher than in the standard Gamborg B5 medium. The calculated overall optimum point with regard to the calcium, inorganic nitrogen, and sucrose concentrations of the medium was Ca^{2+} 0.47 mM, NO_3^- 5.06 mM, NH_4^+ 0.40 mM, and sucrose 96.25 mM, giving a total desirability of $D_0 = 1.0$. This is in good agreement with the observations in (**III**).

For *P. palustre*, the overall optimum area was between the calcium and sucrose corners. Of the separate responses in the model, the DM maximum was close to the sucrose corner, while the coumarin content was the highest between the calcium and sucrose corners. The DM was 61.8% higher in the optimised medium than in the standard Gamborg B5 medium. The highest coumarin content exceeded the reference by 58.1%. The amount of nitrogen needed for growth and coumarin production was markedly low. Thus the calculated optimum with regard to the three variables was 1.60 mM Ca²⁺, 2.84 mM NO₃⁻, 0.23 mM NH₄⁺, and 85.10 mM sucrose, giving a total desirability of D₀ = 1.0.

The variation in the concentrations of the explanatory variables clearly affected embryo formation and differentiation (shoot/root ratio). The 1.25 mM calcium concentration increased embryo formation of the *A. archangelica* cultures the most. Reports on other embryogenic cell lines such as carrot (Overvoorde and Grimes 1994) and *Hevea brasiliensis* (Muell Arg.) (Etienne *et al.* 1997) support this finding. In the *P. palustre* experiments, the inorganic nitrogen concentration was the key factor for embryo formation. The same has also been reported for *Betula bendula* Roth cultures (Nuutila *et al.* 1991). However, sugar played

an important role in embryo formation with both of the cultures, as noted earlier (Jeannin *et al.* 1995, (**III**)). CELLOP enables emphasizing the required or desirable features of the examined material such as morphology, *i.e.* the shoot/root ratio, embryogenic activity or biosynthetic activity. The explanatory variables in this study make it possible to use the experimental set-up, *e.g.* in the optimisation of *in vitro* propagation procedures or in the development of two-stage culturing methods for bioprocesses ((**III**), Chen *et al.* 2003).

9.4.1 Development of the experimental design

The total duration of the optimisation experiment is critical for slowly growing cultures. Methods suitable for such cultures have been developed *e.g.* by Tammisola *et al.* (1993), but the number of experimental steps may still easily increase, *e.g.* the duration of a 5-step study with 3 sub-culturing phases is over 10 months. A differentiated culture, especially the *A. archangelica* line, is markedly affected by seasonal changes (**III**). Thus a series of experiments lasting longer than 10 months is easily affected by this phenomenon, and a faster approach such as CELLOP is essential.

The reduction in the number of experimental data points from 20 to 13 and replicate flasks from 8 to 3 did not have any marked effect on the overall optimum or desirability (see **Tables 4** and **5**). However, a further reduction in the number of data points or replicate flasks proved to be impossible. The model provides a means for systematic optimisation of the growth medium for plant cell cultures within a relatively short period of time. The results from both (**III**) and (**IV**) lead to the concept of a two-phase cultivation system, in which cultivation is initiated with sucrose feeding in order to rapidly obtain a large amount of embryogenic material continued by cultivation in a low-concentration sucrose-medium that activates the regeneration of embryos into plantlets. Although the plants from which the cultures were derived are closely related, they still showed significant differences both in growth and coumarin production, as well as in embryo formation, thus making individual optimisation necessary for each culture. The developed model also enables the determination of absolute concentrations of the chosen explanatory variables for new cultures by using the vertical dimension of the prism.

Data points	Model	Flasks	r ² DM	r ² coum.	Overall optimum	Do
20	Linear	8	73.8	65.5	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		5	75.2	67.32	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		3	70.42	66.38	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		2	73.45	61.69	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		1	64.08	54.04	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
	Full quadratic	8	82.01	69.61	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		5	81.85	69.86	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		3	82.95	70.73	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		2	82.52	67.53	0,1623; 0,1827; 0,6549	1
		1	80.04	64.75	0,1677; 0,2676; 0,5647	1
13	Linear	8	75	72.18	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		3	69.23	70.16	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		2	73.15	65.52	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		1	62.02	56.13	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
	Full quadratic	8	83.87	75.27	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		3	84.79	74.17	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		2	84.41	70.87	0,08099; 0,1857; 0,7333	1
		1	84.61	67.08	0,08099; 0,1857; 0,7333	1
7	Linear	8	73.92	68.97	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
		3	69.19	70.36	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		2	76.08	66.43	0,1857; 0,08099; 0,7333	1
		1	66.85	47.03	0,145; 0,002581; 0,8524	1
	Full quadratic	8	83.43	75.16	0,002581; 0,145; 0,8524	1
		3	87.91	85.9	0,362; 0,5172; 0,1208	1
		2	90.87	88.06	0,5027; 0,3982; 0,0946	1
		1	98.23	97.83	0,362; 0,5172; 0,1208	1

Table 4. Effect of number of experimental data points, replicate flasks, and regression models, on r^2 of dry mass, on r^2 of coumarin content, overall optima, and desirability values of *A. archangelica* cultures (unpublished data).

			2016	2		
Data points	Model	Flasks	r² DM	r ² coum.	Overall optimum	Do
20	Linear	8	81.28	46.91	0.145; 0.002581; 0.8524	0.9996
		5	79.31	48.40	0.145; 0.002581; 0.8524	0.9993
		3	83.25	43.23	0.4819; 0.01025; 0.5078	0.9999
		2	79.00	45.36	0.145; 0.002581; 0.8524	0.9992
		1	79.3	40.63	0.499; 0.01198; 0.489	0.9999
	Full quadratic	8	90.37	56.37	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		5	89.03	60.41	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		3	90.37	56.30	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		2	87.89	61.46	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		1	87.90	62.85	0.5381; 0.01691; 0.445	1
13	Linear	8	79.62	49.76	0.145; 0.02581; 0.9524	0.9992
		3	83.71	43.78	0.5058; 0.0009417; 0.4932	0.9997
		2	79.45	47.53	0.5414; 0.0002574; 0.4583	0.9998
		1	78.95	46.34	0.5444; 0.000271; 0.4554	0.9997
	Full quadratic	8	93.02	66.75	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		3	94.21	66.92	0.6064; 0.01308; 0.3805	1
		2	92.98	72.44	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
		1	92.21	80.32	0.4796; 0.03407; 0.4863	1
7	Linear	8	69.8	37.71	0.08315; 0.006804; 0.91	0.9999
		3	78.98	27.09	0.08315; 0.006804; 0.91	0.9994
		2	74.97	33.87	0.08315; 0.006804; 0.91	0.9997
		1	74.62	16.83	0.000701; 0.000226; 0.999	0.9737
	Full quadratic	8	93.86	58.83	0.1677; 0.2676; 0.5647	0.9999
		3	96.9	79.94	0.1725; 0.2665; 0.5609	1
		2	99.39	79.92	0.1725; 0.2665; 0.5609	1
		1	99.78	99.95	0.1603; 0.3718; 0.4679	0.9996

Table 5. Effect of number of experimental data points, replicate flasks, and regression models, on r^2 of dry mass, on r^2 of coumarin content, overall optima, and desirability values of *P. palustre* cultures (unpublished data).

10 CONCLUSIONS

MS detection with automated optimisation of chromatographic conditions enables, compared to earlier techniques, the detailed analysis of complex plant samples with closely related compounds. The amount of sample material required is also relatively low. Fast and efficient methods provide a valuable tool for more efficient processes when screening plant material in the search for new medicines.

Several statistically significant correlations were found between different coumarins in the different plant organs. The Finnish *P. palustre* population did not show any signs of containing different chemotypes. This may be due to the high variability of the coumarin composition. However, it clearly differed from the Austrian population. Climatic factors, *e.g.* effective temperature sum, affected only the aerial parts of *P. palustre*.

Somatic embryogenesis proved to be a useful method for producing healthy plants of *A*. *archangelica*, which are known to be difficult to propagate due to the poor germination ability of the naturally produced seeds. The use of a simple bioreactor makes the method useful for the large-scale production of *A*. *archangelica* plants. Further studies are, however, needed to ensure the genetic stability of the culture.

The optimisation model, "CELLOP" utilising desirability functions, which has earlier been utilised in the optimisation of chromatographic conditions, enabled systematic optimisation of the cultivation conditions of plant cell cultures in a relatively short period of time compared to classical optimisation approaches. What should not be forgotten, however, is that not only the relative quantities of the optimised nutritional factors but also their absolute quantities should be taken into account.

11 REFERENCES

- Abad, M.J., de las Heras, B., Silván, A.M., Pascual, R., Bermejo, P., Rodriguez, B., Villar, A.M.: Effects of furanocoumarins from *Cachrys trifida* on some macrophage functions. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53: 1163-1168, 2001.
- Ammirato, P.V.: Hormonal control of somatic embryo development from cultured cells of caraway Interactions of abscisic acid, zeatin, and gibberellic acid. Plant Physiol. **59**: 579-586, 1977.
- Ammirato, P.V.: Embryogenesis. In: Evans, D.A., Sharp, W.R., Ammirato, P.V., Yamada, Y. (ed.): Handbook of Plant Cell Culture. Vol. I. Pp. 82-123. Macmillan, New York 1983.
- Ataga, A.E., Epton, H.A.S., Frost, R.R.: Effect of virus infection on the concentration of furanocoumarins in celery (*Apium graveolens* L. var. dulce Mill. D.C.). - Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 42: 161-168, 1993.
- Baerheim Svendsen, A.: Zur Chemie Norwegischer Umbelliferen. Die Gattungen Pimpinella und Angelica sowie die verbreitung Chlorogensäure in Norwegischen Umbelliferen. - Thesis. Johan Grundt Tanum Forlag, Oslo 1954.
- Barrett, J.D., Park, Y.S., Bonga, J.M.: The effectiveness of various nitrogen sources in white spruce [*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss] somatic embryogenesis. Plant Cell Rep. **16:** 411–415, 1997.
- Beier, R.C., Oertli, E.H.: Psoralen and other linear furocoumarins as phytoalexins in celery. -Phytochem. 22: 2595-2597, 1983.
- Bela, J., Shetty, K.: Somatic embryogenesis in anise (*Pimpinella anisum* L.): The effect of proline on embryogenic callus formation and ABA on advanced embryo development. - J. Food Biochem. 23: 17-32, 1999.
- Bergendorff, O., Dekermendjian, K., Nielesen, M., Shan, R., Witt, R., Ai, J., Sterner, O.: Furanocoumarins with affinity to brain benzodiazepine receptors *in vitro*. - Phytochem. 44: 1121-1124, 1997.
- Berenbaum, M.R., Zangerl, A.R.: Chemical phenotype matching between a plant and its insect herbivore. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. **95**: 13743-13748, 1998.
- Bergius P.J.: Materia medica e regno vegetabili sistens simplicia officinalia, partier atque culinaria secundum systema sexuale, ex autopsia et experimentia. Editio secunda correctior. -Pp. 204-205, 211-214. Typis Petri Hesselberg, Stockholmiae 1782.
- Beyrich, Th.: Isolierung von Phellopterin aus Früchten von *Heracleum mantegazzianum* (Sommer et Levier) und *Angelica archangelica* L. 4. Mitt.: Über Furocumarine. - Arch. Pharm. 298: 672-676, 1965.

- Bieganowska, M.L., Głowniak, K.: Retention behaviour of some coumarins in normal-phase highperformance thin-layer and column chromatography. - Cromatographia **25**: 111-116, 1988.
- Björnlund, B.: Materia medica selecta. Pp. 17-18. Typis Frenckellianis, Aboae 1797.
- Black, C.A., Karban, R., Godfrey, L.D., Granett, J., Chaney, W.E.: Pest Management. Jasmonic acid: a vaccine against leafminers (*Diptera*: Agromyzidae) in celery. - Environ. Entomol. 32: 1196-1202, 2003.
- Blaschek, W., Hänsel, R., Keller, K., Reichling, J., Rimpler, H., Schneider, G. (ed.): Hagers Handbuch der pharmazeutischen Praxis, Drogen A-K, Folgeband 2, 5. Aufl. Pp. 91-125. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany 1998.
- Borges, F., Roleira, F., Milhazes, N., Santana, L., Uriarte, E.: Simple coumarins and analogues in medicinal chemistry: Occurrence, synthesis ans biological activity. - Current Med. Chem. 12: 887-916, 2005.
- Bruneton, J.: Coumarins. In Pharmacognosy, Phytochemistry, Medicinal Plants. 2nd edition. Pp. 263-277. Intercept Ltd., Hampshire 1999.
- Böcker, E., Hahn, A.: Ein neuer Bestandteil des ätherischen Angelica-wurzelöls. J. Prakt. Chem. 83: 243-248, 1911.
- Campbell, H.A., Link, K.P.: Studies on the hemorrhagic sweet clover disease. IV The isolation and chrystallisation of the hemorrhagic agent. J. Biol. Chem. **138**: 21-33, 1941.
- Carpinella, M.C., Ferrayoli, C.G., Palacios, S.M.: Antifungal synergistic effect of scopoletin, a hydroxycoumarin isolated from *Melia azedarach* L. fruits. - J. Agric. Food Chem. 53: 2922-2927, 2005.
- Chatterjee, A., Sen Gupta, S.: The constitution of archangelicin, a new coumarin isolated from the root of *Angelica archangelica* Linn. (Umbelliferae). Tetrahedron Lett. **29**: 1961-1965, 1964.
- Chatterjee, A., Chakravarty, A., Mukherjee, R., 1967: ref. in Murray et al. (1982).
- Chatterjee, A., Dutta, S.: Structure investigation of new lactonic constituents from the roots of *Angelica archangelica* Linn. Indian J. Chem. **6**: 415-422, 1968.
- Chattopadhyay, S., Mehra, R.S., Srivastava, A.K., Bhojwani, S.S., Bisaria, V.S: Effect of major nutrients on podophyllotoxin production in *Podophyllum hexandrum* suspension cultures. -Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **60**: 541-546, 2003.
- Chen, I.S., Chang, C.T., Sheen, W.S., Teng, C.M., Tsai, I.L., Duh, C.Y., Ko, F.N.: Coumarins and antiplatelet aggregation constituents from Formosan *Peucedanum japonicum*. Phytochem. 41: 525-530, 1996.
- Chen, S., Wang, X., Zhao, B., Yuan, X., Wang, Y.: Production of crocin using *Crocus sativus* callus by two-stage culture system. Biotechnol. Lett. **25**: 1235-1238, 2003.

- Chen, Y.F., Tsai, H.Y., Wu, T.S.: Anti-inflammatory and analgesic activities from the roots of *Angelica pubescens*. Planta Med. **61**: 2-8, 1995.
- Chiou, W.F., Huang, Y.L., Chen, C.F., Chen, C.C.: Vasorelaxing effect of coumarins from *Cnidium monnieri* on corpus cavernosum. Planta Med. **67**: 282-284, 2001.
- Cho, J.S., Chun, S.H., Lee, S.J., Kim, I.H., Kim, D.I.: Development of cell line preservation method for research and industry producing useful metabolites by plant cell culture. -Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng. 5: 372-378, 2000.
- Choi, S.Y., Ahn, E.M., Song, M.C., Kim, D.W., Kang, J.H., Kwon, O.S., Kang, T.C., Baek, N.I.: In Vitro GABA-Transaminase inhibitory compounds from the root of *Angelica dahurica*. -Phytother. Res. **19**: 839-845, 2005.
- Chopra, R.N., Khanna, R.: Morphogenic studies on *Anethum graveolens* L. I. Response of hypocotyl segments to sucrose and some growth substances. - J. Ind. Bot. Soc. 58: 83-90, 1979.
- Churngchow, N., Rattarasarn, M.: Biosynthesis of scopoletin in *Hevea brasiliensis* leaves inoculated with *Phytophthora palmivora*. J. Plant Physiol. **158**: 875-882, 2001.
- Cisowski, W., Głowniak, K., Matysik, G., Soczewiński, E.: Analiza fraktji kumarynowych *Angelica archangelica* L. i *Angelica litoralis* Fries za pomocą wysokosprawnej chromatorgafii cienkowarstwowej (HPTLC) Herba. Pol. **33**: 233-243, 1987.
- Cochran, W., Cox, G. (ed.): Experimental designs. Chapter 8A. Some methods for the study of response surfaces. Pp. 335-375. Wiley Publications, London 1957.
- Conconi, M.T., Montesi, F., Parnigotto, P.P.: Antiproliferative activity and phototoxicity of some methyl derivatives of 5-methoxypsoralen and 5-methoxyangelicin. - Pharmacol. Toxicol. 82: 193-198, 1998.
- Corcilius, F.: Isolierung eines neuen Coumarins und papierchromatographischer Nachweis der Coumarinsubstanzen der Angelica archangelica L. - Arch. Pharm. Ber. Dtsch. Pharm. Ges. 289: 81-86, 1956.
- Coxon, D.T., Curtis, R.F., Price, K.R., Levett, G.: Abnormal metabolites produced by *Daucus carota* roots stored under conditions of stress. Phytochem. **12**: 1881-1885, 1973.
- Deming, S.N.: Multiple-criteria optimization. J. Chromatogr. 550: 15-25, 1991.
- Deng, S., Chen, S.N., Yao, P., Nikolic D., van Breemen, R.B., Bolton J.L., Fong, H.H.S., Farnsworth, N.R., Pauli, G.F.: Serotonergic activity-guided phytochemical investigation of the roots of *Angelica sinensis*. - J. Nat. Prod. 69: 536-541, 2006.
- Dercks, W., Trumble, J., Winter, C.: Impact of atmospheric pollution on linear furanocoumarin content in celery. - J. Chem. Ecol. 16: 443–454, 1990.

- Dudits, D., Börge, L., Göyrgey, J.: Molecular and cellular approaches to the analysis of plant embryo development from somatic cells *in vitro*. J. Cell Sci. **99**: 473-482, 1991.
- Dugas, B., Debré, P., Moncada, S.: Nitric oxide, a vital poison inside the immune and inflammatory network. Res Immunol. 146: 664-670, 1995.
- Eckey-Kaltenbach, H., Ernst, D., Heller, W., Sandermann, H.: Biochemical plant responses to ozone. IV. Cross-induction of defensive pathways in parsley (*Petroselinum crispum* L.) plants. - Plant Physiol. **104**: 67-74, 1994.
- Eichstedt Nielsen, B., Lemmich, J.: Constituents of Umbelliferous Plants IV. The coumarins of *Peucedanum palustre* L. The structure of a new coumarin. - Acta Chem. Scand. 18: 1379-1383, 1964.
- Eichstedt Nielsen, B., Lemmich, J.: Constituents of Umbelliferous Plants. VI. The Structure of peulustrin, a new coumarin from *Peucedanum palustre* L. - Acta Chem. Scand. **19**: 601-604, 1965A.
- Eichstedt Nielsen, B., Lemmich, J.: Constituents of Umbelliferous Plants. VII. Coumarins from the fruits of *Peucedanum palustre* L. The structure of two new coumarins. Acta Chem. Scand. 19: 1810-1814, 1965B.
- Eilers, R.J., Sullivan, J.G., Skrivin, R.M.: Analyzing effects of exogenous polyamines and growth regulators on planting efficiency of sweet potato protoplasts using central composite design. -Plant Cell Rep. 7: 216-219, 1988.
- Ekiert, H.: Medicinal plant biotechnology: the *Apiaceae* family as the example of rapid development. Pharmazie **55**: 561-567, 2000.
- Ekiert, H., Gomólka, E.: Furanocoumarins in *Pastinaca sativa* L. *in vitro* culture. Pharmazie **55**: 618-620, 2000.
- El Fiky, F.K., Remmel, R.P., Staba, E.J.: *Ammi visnaga*: somatic embryo induction and furanochromone production in embryos, seedlings, and plants. - Planta med. 55: 446-451, 1989.
- Ellard-Ivey, M., Douglas, C.J.: Role of jasmonates in the elicitor- and wound-inducible expression of defence genes in parsley and transgenic tobacco. Plant Physiol. **112**: 183-192, 1996.
- Erdelmeier, C.A.J.: Über die Cumarine einiger Umbelliferen. Thesis. ETH Zürich, Switzerland 1983.
- Ernst D., Oesterhelt, D.: Effect of exogenous cytokinins on growth and somatic embryogenesis in anise cells (*Pimpinella anisum* L.). Planta **161**: 246-248, 1984.

- Etienne, H., Lartaud, M., Carron, P.M., Michaux-Ferrière, N.: Use of calcium to optimize longterm proliferation of friable embryogenic calluses and plant regeneration in *Hevea brasiliensis* (Müll. Arg.). - J. Exp. Bot. 48: 129-137, 1997.
- Fischer, F.C., Baerheim Svendsen, A.: Apterin, a common furanocoumarin glycoside in the Umbelliferae. Phytochem. 15: 1079-1080, 1976.
- Forsen, K: Aroma constituents of Angelica archangelica. Variations in the composition of the essential root oil of strains of var. norvegica and var. sativa. - Rep. Kevo Subarctic Res. Stat. 15: 1-7, 1979.
- Fujioka, T., Furumi, K., Fujii, H., Okabe, H., Mihashi, K., Nakano, Y., Matsunaga, H., Katano, M., Mori, M.: Antiproliferative constituents from umbelliferae plants. V. A new furanocoumarin and falcarindiol furanocoumarin ethers from the root of *Angelica japonica*. - Chem. Pharm. Bull. **47**: 96-100, 1999.
- Furmanowa, M., Olędzka, H., Olszowska, O., Rapczewska, L., Józefowicz, J.: Biul. Inst. Hodowli i Aklimatyzacji Roślin 145: 99 (1981) in Ekiert (2000).
- Furmanowa, M., Oledzka, H., Sowińska, D.: Regeneration of plants by embryogenesis with callus cultures of *Carum carvi* L. - J. Plant Physiol. **115**: 209-210, 1984.
- Gamborg, O.L., Miller, R.A., Ojima, K.: Nutritional requirements of suspension cultures of soybean root cells. - Exp. Cell Res. 50: 151-158, 1968.
- García-Argáez, A.N., Ramírez Apan, T.O., Parra Delgado, H., Velázquez, G., Martínez-Vázquez,
 M.: Anti-inflammatory activity of coumarins from *Decatropis bicolor* on TPA ear mice model. Planta med. 66: 279-281, 2000.
- Gawron, A., Głowniak, K.: Cytostatic activity of coumarins *in vitro*. Planta Med. **53**: 526-529, 1987.
- Geiger, P.L, Mohr, C.F.: *Pharmacopoea universalis*. Pp. 213-214, 259, 261.Chr. Fr. Winter, Heidelbergae 1845.
- Głowniak, K., Bieganowska, M.L.: Reversed-phase systems for the separation of coumarins and furocoumarins by thin-layer and high-performance liquid chromatography. - J. Liquid Chromatogr. 8: 2927-2947, 1985.
- Głowniak, K., Dragan, T., Zgórka, G., Gawron, A.: Phenolic and some other furanocoumarins in Angelica roots treated with fungi. - Acta Horticult. 381 (International Symposium on Natural Phenols in Plant Resistance, Vol. 2): 600-604, 1994.
- Gonçalves, S., Correia, P.J., Martins-Loução, M.A., Romano, A.: A new medium formulation for *in vitro* rooting of carob tree based on leaf nutrients concentrations. - Biol. Plant. 49: 277-280, 2005.

- Goodman, A., Gilman, A.: Brunton L.L., Lazo, J.S., Parker, K.L. (ed) The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics, Chapter 62: Dermatological Pharmacology. 11th Ed. Pp 1679-1706. The McGraw-Hill Companies, Medical publishing division, Mew York, Chicago, San Francisco, Lisbon, London, Madrid, Mexico City, Milan, New Delhi, Sain Juan, Seoul, Singapore, Sydney, Toronto 2006.
- Grewal, S., Sachdeva, U., Alal, C.K.: Regeneration of plants by embryogenesis from hypocotyl cultures of *Ammi majus* L. Ind. J. Exp. Biol. **14**: 716–717, 1976.
- Gutierrez, M.C., Parry, A., Tena, M., Jorrin, J., Edwards, R.: Abiotic elicitation of coumarin phytolaexins in sunflower. Phytochem. **38**: 1185-1191, 1995.
- Hadaček, F.: Vergleichende phytochemische Untersuchungen in der Gattung Peucedanum (Apiaceae-Apipoidae). - Thesis. Botanische Arbeitsgemeisschaft am O.Ö., Landesmuseum Linz, Austria 1989.
- Hadaček, F., Müller, C., Werner, A., Greger, H., Proksch, P.: Analysis, isolation and insecticidal activity of linear furanocoumarins and other coumarin derivatives from *Peucedanum* (Apiaceae: Apioideae). - J. Chem. Ecol. 20: 2035-2054, 1994.
- Hassani, B., Saboora, A., Radjabian, T., Fallah Husseini, H:. Somatic embryogenesis of *Ferula* assa-foetida. J. Sci. Univ.Tehran **33**, 15-23, 2008.
- Hawryl, M.A., Soczewinski, E., Dzido, T.H.: Separation of coumarins from *Archangelica officinalis* in high-performance liquid chromatography and thin layer chromatography systems. J. Chrom. A. 886: 75-82, 2000.
- Heath-Pagliuso, S., Matlin, S.A., Fang, N., Thompson, R.H., Rappaport, L.: Stimulation of furanocoumarin accumulation in celery and celeriac tissues by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *Apii.* - Phytochem. **31**: 2683-2688, 1992.
- Hendrix, A.: Rapid extraction and analysis on nonstructural carbohydrates in plant tissues. Crop Sci. 33: 1306-1311, 1993.
- Hiermann, A., Schantl, D.: Antiphlogistic and antipyretic activity of *Peucedanum ostruthium*. Planta Med. **64**: 400-403. 1998.
- Hiraoka, N., Kodama, T., Oyanagi, M., Nakano, S., Tolnita, Y., Yamada N., Iida, O., Satake, M.: Characteristics of *Bupleurum falcatum* plants propagated through somatic embryogenesis of callus cultures. - Plant Cell Rep. 5: 319- 321, 1986.
- Hoppe, H.: Drogenkunde, Band 1 Angiospermen. 8th Ed., Pp. 83-86. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin-New York 1975.
- Hostettmann, K., Marston, A.: The search for new drugs from higher plants. Chimia **61**: 322-326, 2007.

- Hsiao, G., Ko, F.N., Jong, T.T., Teng, C.M.: Antiplatelet action of 3',4'-diisovalerylkhellactone diester purified from *Peucedanum japonicum* Thunb. Biol. Pharm. Bull. **21**: 688-692, 1998.
- Huang, S.Y., Chan, H.S., Wang, T.T.: Induction of somatic embryos of celery by control of gaseous compositions and other physical conditions. - Plant Growth Regul. 49: 219–227, 2006.
- Huang, L.C, Chi, C.M., Vits, H., Staba, E.J., Cooke T.J., Hu, W.S: Population and biomass kinetics in fed-batch cultures of *Daucus carota* L. somatic embryos. - Biotechn. Bioeng. 41: 811-818, 1993.
- Hunault, G.: In vitro culture of fennel tissues (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.) from cell suspension to mature plant. - Sci. Hortic. 22: 55–65, 1984.
- Hunault, G., Mataar, A.: Enhancement of somatic embryogenesis by gibberellic acid in fennel. -Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 41: 171-176, 1995.
- Huong, D.T.L., Choi, H.C., Rho, T.C., Lee, H.S., Lee, M.K., Kim, Y.H.: Inhibitory activity of monoamine oxidase by coumarins from *Peucedanum japonicum*. - Arch. Pharm. Res. 22: 324-326, 1999.
- Hämet-Ahti, L., Suominen, J., Ulvinen, T., Uotila, P. (ed): Retkeilykasvio. Pp. 322-323. Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 1998.
- Härmälä, P.: Study on the isolation and chromatographic behaviour of coumarins from Angelica (*Angelica archangelica*) roots. Thesis. J-Paino Ky, Helsinki 1991.
- Härmälä, P., Kummala, T., Rantala, K., Oksman-Caldentey, K.M., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R.: The coumarin content from different stages of embryo development and regenerated plants of *Peucedanum palustre*. - Planta med. 58: A615 - A616, 1992A.
- Härmälä, P., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R., Nyiredy, Sz., Sticher, O., Törnquist, K., Kaltia, S.: Strategy for the isolation and identification of coumarins with calcium antagonistic properties from the roots of *Angelica archangelica*. - Phytochem. Anal. **3**: 42-48, 1992B.
- Jasrai, Y.T., Barot, S.M., Mehta A.R.: Plant regeneration through somatic embryogenesis in hypocotyl explants of *Trachyspermum ammi* (L.) Sprague. - Plant Cell Tiss. Org.Cult. 29: 57-60, 1992.
- Jay, V., Genestier, S., Courduroux, J.C.: Bioreactor studies on the effect of dissolved oxygen concentrations on growth and differentiation of carrot (*Daucus carota* L.) cell cultures. -Plant Cell Rep. 11: 605-608, 1992.
- Jeannin, G., Bronner, R., Hahne, G.: Somatic embryogenesis and organogenesis induced on the immature zygotic embryo of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) cultivated *in vitro*: role of the sugar. - Plant Cell Rep. 15: 200-204, 1995.

- Jiménes, V.M.: Involvement of plant hormones and plant growth regulators on *in vitro* somatic embryogenesis. Plant Growth Regul. **47**: 91-110, 2005.
- Jóhansen, J.: Medicinal and other useful plants in the Faroe islands before AD 1800. Bot. J. Scotl. **46**: 611-616, 1994.
- Johnson, C., Brannon, D.R., Kuć, J.: Xanthotoxin: a phytoalexin of *Pastinaca sativa* root Phytochem. **12**: 2961–2962, 1973.
- Jäger, A.K., Schottländer, B., Wagner Smitt, U., Nyman, U.: Somatic embryogenesis of *Thapsia garganica*. Correlation between the state of differentiation and the content of thapsigargins. -Plant Cell Rep. **12**: 517-520, 1993.
- Kawaii, S., Tomono, Y., Ogawa, K., Sugiura, M., Yano, M., Yoshizawa, Y., Ito, C., Furukawa, H.: Antiproliferative effect of isopentenylated coumarins on several cancer cell lines. -Anticancer Res. 21: 1905-1912, 2001.
- Kikuchi, A., Sanuki, N., Higashi, K., Koshiba, T., Kamada, H.: Abscisic acid and stress treatment are essential for the acquisition of embryogenic competence by carrot somatic cells.- Planta, 223: 637-645, 2006
- Kim, J.S., Kim, J.C., Shim, S.H., Lee, E.J., Jin, W., Bae, K., Son, K.H., Kim, H.P., Kang, S.S., Chang, H.W.: Chemical constituents of the root of *Dystaenia takeshimana* and their antiinflammatory activity. - Arch. Pharm. Res. 29: 617-623, 2006.
- Kim, S.W., Park, M.K., Liu, J.R.: High frequency plant regeneration via somatic embryogenesis in cell suspension cultures of coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* L.). - Plant Cell Rep. 15: 751-753, 1996.
- Kimura, Y., Ohminami, H., Arichi, H., Okuda, H., Baba, K., Kozawa, M., Arichi, S.: Effects of various coumarins from roots of *Angelica dahurica* on action of adrenaline, ACTH and insulin in fat cells. –Planta Med. 45: 183-187, 1982.
- Kleiner, H.E., Vulimiri, S.V., Miller, L., Johnson, W.H. Jr, Whitman, C.P., DiGiovanni, J.: Oral administration of naturally ocurring coumarins leads to altered phase I and II enzyme activities and reduced DNA adduct formation by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in various tissues of SENCAR mice. - Carcinogenesis 22: 73-82, 2001.
- Kofinas, C., Chinou, I., Loukis, A., Harvala, C, Maillard, M., Hostettmann, K: Flavonoids and bioactive coumarins of *Tordylium apulum*. - Phytochem. 48: 637–641, 1998.
- Krikorian, A.D., Simola, L.K.: Totipotency, somatic embryogenesis, and Harry Waris (1893– 1973). - Physiol. Plant. 105: 348-355, 1999.
- Kubetczka K.H., Schmaus, G., Schultze, W., Ulmann, I.: The essential root oil of *Peucedanum lancifolium* Lange and chemotaxonomic implications. Z. Naturforsch. **44**: 183-188, 1989.

- Kummala, T., Vuorela, P., Sumelius, S., Fagerstedt, K., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R.: Variation in coumarin content in naturally growing plants of *Peucedanum palustre*. - Planta Med. Supplement Issue 59: A695, 1993.
- Kummala T., Vuorela H., Vuorela P., Hiltunen R., Törnquist K.: Actions of natural coumarins on calcium entry in rat thyroid FRTL-5 cells. Pharm. Pharmacol. Lett. **6**: 1-4, 1996.
- Laaksonen, K.: Effective temperature sums and durations of the vegetative period in Fennoscandia (1921-1950). Fennia **157**: 171-197, 1979.
- Laurain, D., Chénieux, J.C., Trémouillaux-Guiller, J.: Somatic embryogenesis from immature zygotic embryos of *Ginkgo biloba*. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. **44**: 19-24, 1996.
- Leskova, E.V., Ananichev, A.V. 1969: Rastit. Resur. 5: ref. in Murray et al. 1982.
- Lino, C.S., Taveira, M.L., Viana, G.S.B., Matos, F.J.A.: Analgesic and anti-inflammatory activities of *Justicia pectoralis* Jacq and its main constituents: Coumarin and umbelliferone. -Phytother. Res. 11: 211-215, 1997.
- Liu, J.H., Zschocke, S., Reininger, E., Bauer, R.: Inhibitory effect of Angelica pubescens f. biserrata on 5-lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase. - Planta Med. 64: 525-529, 1998.
- Lois, R., Hahlbrock, K.: Differential wound activation of members of the phenylalanine ammonialyase and 4-coumarate: CoA ligase gene families in various organs of parsley plants. – Z. Naturforsch. 47: 90-94, 1992.
- Lord, K.M., Epton, H.A S., Frost R.R.: Virus infection and furanocoumarins in celery. Plant Pathol. **37**: 385-389, 1988.
- Manderfeld, M.M, Schafer, H.W., Davidson, P.M, Zottola, E.A.: Isolation and identification of antimicrobial furanocoumarins from parsley. - J. Food Prot. 60: 72-77, 1997.
- Martin, K.P.: Efficacy of different growth regulators at different stages of somatic embryogenesis in *Eryngium foetidum* L. a rare medicinal plant. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant **40**: 459–463, 2004.
- Matern, U., Lüer, P., Kreusch, D.: Biosynthesis of coumarins. Pp. 623-637. In: Barton, D., Nakanishi, K., Meth-Cohn, O., Sankawa, U. (ed.): Comprehensive Natural Products Chemistry, Vol. 1, Polyketides and Other Secondary Metabolites Including Fatty Acids and Their Derivatives. Elsevier Science Ltd., Oxford, UK 1999.
- Mashayekhi, K., Neumann, K.H.: Effects of boron on somatic embryogenesis of *Daucus carota*. -Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. **84**: 279–283, 2006.
- Masuda, K., Koda, Y., Okasawa, Y.: Callus Formation and Embryogenesis of Endosperm Tissues of Parsley Seed Cultured on Hormone-Free Medium. Physiol. Plant. **41**: 135-138, 1977.

- McNeely, W., Goa, K.L.: 5-Methoxypsoralen A review of its effects in psoriasis and vitiligo. -Drugs 56: 667-690, 1998.
- Meredith, T.C., Grubb, P. J.: Biological flora of the British isles *Peucedanum palustre* L. (Moench). - J. Ecol. 81: 813-826, 1993.
- Miksch, M., Boland, W.: Airborne methyl jasmonate stimulates the biosynthesis of furanocoumarins in the leaves of celery plants (*Apium graveolens*). - Experientia 52: 739-743, 1996.
- Murashige, T., Skoog, F.: A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue culture. Physiol. Plant. **31**: 473-497, 1962.
- Murray, R.D.H., Mendes, J., Brown, S.A.: The natural coumarins. Occurrence, Chemistry and Biochemistry. - John Wiley et Sons Ltd, Chichester - New York - Brisbane - Toronto -Singapore 1982.
- Murray, R.D.H.: Coumarins. Nat. Prod. Rep. 6, 591-624, 1989.
- Murray, R.D.H.: Naturally occurring plant coumarins. Progr.Chem.Org. Nat. Prod. 58: 83-316, 1991.
- Murray, R.D.H.: Coumarins. Nat. Prod.Rep. 12: 477-505, 1995.
- Murray, R.D.H.: Naturally occurring plant coumarins. Progr.Chem.Org. Nat. Prod. 72: 1-119, 1997.
- Murthy, H.N., Hahn E.J., Paek, K.Y.: Recurrent somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration in *Coriandrum sativum* L. - Sci. Horticult. **118**: 168-171, 2008.
- Nadel, B.L., Altman, A., Ziv, M.: Regulation of somatic embryogenesis in celery cell suspensions.
 1. Promoting effects of mannitol on somatic embryo development. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 18: 181-189, 1989.
- Nakagawa, K., Miura, Y., Fukui, H., Tabata, M. in: Fujiwara A. (ed.): Plant Tissue Culture. Pp. 701, Maruzen, Tokyo 1982. reference in Ekiert (2000).
- Newton, A., Shea, E.: N-(indole-3-acetyl) amino acis as auxin sources for somatic embryogenesis in carrot tissue cultures. Bios **77:** 77-83, 2006.
- Ngwendson, J.N., Bedir, E., Efange, S.M.N., Okunji, C.O., Iwu M.M., Schuster B.G., Khan, I.A.: Constituents of *Peucedanum zenkeri* seeds and their antimicrobial effects. - Pharmazie **58**: 587-589, 2003.
- Niedz, R.P.: Growth of embryogenic sweet orange callus on media varying in the ratio of nitrate to ammonium nitrogen. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. **39**: 1–5, 1994.

- Nigg, H.N., Strandberg J.O., Beier, R.C., Petersen, H.D., Harrison, J.M.: Furanocoumarins in Florida celery carieties increased by fungicide treatment. - J. Agric. Food Chem. 45: 1430-1436, 1997.
- Nogushi, T., Kawanami, M.: 1940: ref. in Murray et al. (1982).
- Nuutila, A.M., Kurtén, U., Kauppinen, V.: Optimization of sucrose and inorganic nitrogen concentrations of somatic embryogenesis of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth.) callus cultures: A statistical approach. - Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 24: 73-77, 1991.
- Nyiredy, Sz., Wosniok, W., Thiele, H., Sticher, O.: "PRISMA" model for computer-aided HPLC mobile phase optimization based on automatic peak identification approach. - J. Liquid Chrom. 14: 3077-3110, 1991.
- Nykänen, I., Nykänen, L., Alkio, M.: Composition of angelica root oils obtained by supercritical CO₂ extraction and steam distillation. J. Ess. Oil Res. **3**: 229-236, 1991.
- Ogawa, H., Sasai, N., Kamisako, T., Baba, K.: Effects of osthol on blood pressure and lipid metabolism in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. - J. Ethnopharmacol. 112: 26-31, 2007.
- Ojala, A.: Varition of *Angelica archangelica* subsp. *Archangelica* (Apiaceae) in northern Fennoscandia 1. Variation in fruit morphology. Ann. Bot. Fenn. **21**: 103-115, 1984.
- Ojala, A.: Seed dormancy and germination in *Angelica archangelica* subsp *archangelica* (Apiaceae). Ann. Bot. Fenn. **22**: 53-62, 1985.
- Ojala, A: Variation, reproduction and life history strategy of Angelica archangelica subsp.archangelica in northern Fennoscandia. Thesis. - Rep. Dep. Biol. No. 13, University of Turku 1986.
- Ojala, T., Remes, S., Haansuu, P., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R., Haahtela, K., Vuorela, P.: Antimicrobial activity of some coumarin containing herbal plants growing in Finland. - J. Ethnopharmacol. 73: 299-305, 2000.
- Ojala, T., Vuorela, P., Kiviranta, J., Vuorela, H., Hiltunen, R.: A bioassay using *Artemia salina* for detecting phototoxicity of plant coumarins. Planta Med. **65**: 715-718, 1999.
- Ojala, T.: Biological Screening of Plant Coumarins. Thesis. University Press, Helsinki 2001.
- Ojala T., Vuorela P., Vuorela H. and Törnquist K.: The coumarin osthol attenuates the binding of thyrotropin-releasing hormone in rat pituitary GH₄C₁ cells. Planta Med. **67**: 236-239, 2001.
- Okuyama, T., Takata, M., Nishino, H., Nishino, A., Takayasu, J., Iwashima, A.: Studies on the antitumor-promoting activity of naturally occurring substances. II. Inhibition of tumorpromoter-enhanced phospholipid metabolism by umbelliferous materials. - Chem. Pharm. Bull. 38: 1084-1086, 1990.

- Okuyama, T., Takata, M., Takayasu, J., Hasegawa, T., Tokuda, H., Nishino, A., Nishino, H., Iwashima, A: Anti-tumor-promotion by principles obtained from *Angelica keiskei*. - Planta Med. 57: 242-246, 1991.
- Oliver, G.F., Winkelmann, R.K.: Treatment of lichen planus. Drugs 45: 56-65, 1993.
- Outinen, K., Haario, H., Vuorela, P., Nyman, M., Ukkonen, E., Vuorela, H.: Optimization of selectivity in high-performance liquid chromatography using desirability functions and mixture design according to PRISMA. - Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 6: 197-205, 1998.
- Overvoorde, P.J., Grimes, H.D.: The role of calcium and calmodulin in carrot somatic embryogenesis. Plant Cell Physiol. **35**: 135-144, 1994.
- Pae, H.O., Oh, H., Yun, Y.G., Oh, G.S., Jang, S.I., Hwang, K.M., Kwon, T.O., Lee, H.S., Chung, H.T.: Imperatorin, a furanocoumarin from *Angelica dahurica* (Umbelliferae), induces cytochrome c-dependent apoptosis in human promyelocytic leukaemia, HL-60 Cells. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 91: 40-48, 2002.
- Palmstruch, J. W.: Svensk botanik. Pp 330. Carl Delén, Stockholm 1802-1843.
- Patra, A., Ghosh, A., Mitra, A.K.: Triterpenoids and furocoumarins of the fruits of *Angelica* archangelica. Ind. J. Chem. **14**: 816-817, 1976.
- Payá, M., García-Pastor, P., Coloma, J., Alcaraz, J.M.: Nitric oxide synthase and cyclo-oxygenase pathways in the inflammatory response induced by zymosan in the rat airpouch. - Br. J. Pharmacol. 120: 1445-1452, 1997.
- *Pharmacopoea Fennica. Cum gratia & privilegio sacrae imperialis majestatis.* Sumtibus Frederici Ant. Meyer, Typis Frenckelliorum, Aboe 1819.
- Pharmacopoeja Holmiensis galeno-chymica complectens compositiones apprimè necessarias, usibus hodiernis destinatas; earumq'; conficiendi modos. Joh.G. Eberdt, Holmiae 1686.
- Pharmacopoea Universalis: Oder, Uebersicht der Pharmacopöen von Amsterdam, Antwerpen, Dublin, Edinburgh, Ferrara, Genf, London, Oldenburg, Würzburg, deren America's, Dänemark's, Finnland's, Frankreich's, Hannover's, Hessen's, der Niederlande, Oesterreich's, Polen's, Portugal's, Preußen's, Rußland's, Sachsen's, Sardinien's, Schweden's, Spanien's, Würtenberg's; Der Dispensatorien von Braunschweig, Fulda, Hessen, Lippe, und der Pfalz; Der Militärpharmacopöen Dänemark's, Frankreich's, Preußen's, Rußland's und von Würzburg; Der Armenpharmacopöe von Hamburg; der Formularien und Pharmacopöen Augustin's, Bories's, Brera's, Brugnatelli's, Cadet de Sassicourt's, Cox's, Ellis's, Ferrarini's, Huseland's, Magendie's, Piderit's, Pierquin's, Ratier's Saunder's, Sainte-Marie's, Spielmann's, Swediaur's, Taddei's und van Mon's. Nach der Pharmacopée universelle des A.
J. L. Jourdan, mit Zusätzen, Erster Band A bis H, Pp 198-206, Zweiter Band I bis Z, Pp 317, 547. Verlag des Großh. Sächs. Landes-Industrie-Comptoir, Weimar 1829-1830.

- Piao, X.L., Yoo, H.H., Kim, H.Y., Kang, T.L., Hwang, G.S., Park, J.H.: Estrogenic Activity of furanocoumarins isolated from *Angelica dahurica*. - Arch. Pharm. Res. 29: 741-745, 2006
- Pierik, R.L.M.: Embryo culture in: In vitro culture of higher plants. Pp. 139-227 Matinus Nijhoff publishers a member of Kluwer Academic publishers group, Dordrecht – Boston - Lancaster 1987.
- Purohit, M., Pande, D., Datta, A., Srivastava, P.S.: Enhanced xanthotoxin content in regenerating cultures of *Ammi majus* and micropropagation. - Planta Med. 66: 481-482, 1995.
- Reichling, J. Becker, H.; Martin, R., Burkhardt, G.: Vergleichende Untersuchungen zur Bildung und Akkukumulation von ätherishen Öl in der intakten Pflanze und in Zellkulturen von *Pimpinella anisum* L. - Z. Naturforsch. 40, 465-468, 1985.
- Reinert, J.: Morphogenese und ihre Kontrolle an Gewebekulturen aus Carotten. Naturwiss. 45: 344-345, 1958.
- Repčák, M., Imrich, J., Franeková, M.: Umbelliferone, a stress metabolite of *Chamomilla recutita* (L.) Rauschert. J. Plant Physiol. 158: 1085-1087, 2001.
- Resch, M., Steigel, A., Chen, Z.L., Bauer, R.: 5-Lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase-1 inhibitory active compounds from *Atractylodes lancea*. - J. Nat. Prod. 61: 347-350, 1998.
- Roos, G., Waiblinger, J., Zschocke, S., Liu, J.H., Klaiber, I., Kraus, W., Bauer, R.: Isolation, identification and screening for COX-1 and 5-LO-inhibition of coumarins from *Angelica archangelica*. - Pharm. Pharmacol. Lett. **7**: 157-160, 1997.
- Sancho, R., Márquez, N., Gómez-Gonzalo, M., Calzado, M.A., Bettoni, G., Coiras, M.T., Alcamí, J., López-Cabrera, M., Appendino, G., Muñoz, E.: Imperatorin inhibits HIV-1 replication through an Sp1-dependent pathway. - J. Biol. Chem. 279: 37349-37359, 2004.
- Sardari, S., Mori, Y., Horita, K., Micetich, R.G., Nishibe, S. Daneshtalab, M.: Synthesis and antifungal activity of coumarins and angular furanocoumarins. - Bioorg. Med. Chem. 7: 1933-1940, 1999.
- Schmaus, G., Schultze, W., Kubeczka KH.: Volatile Constituents of *Peucedanum palustre*. Planta Med. 55: 482-487, 1989.
- Schäfer, E., Li, T., Neuman, K.H.: VIth Congr. Plant Tiss. Cell Cult. Minneapolis, Abstr. Pp 346, 1986 in Ekiert (2000).
- Schofield, F.W.: A brief account of a disease in cattle simulating hemorrhagic septicemia due to feeding sweet clover. Can. Vet. Record. **3**: 74-78, 1922.

- Schofield, F.W.: Damaged sweet clover: The cause of a new disease in cattle simulating hemorrhagic septicaemia and blackleg. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. **64**: 553–575, 1924.
- Sehgal, C.B.: In vitro induction of polyembryony in *Ammi-Majus*. Curr.Sci. (Bangalore) **41**: 263-264, 1972.
- Semiz, G., Heijari, J., Isik, K., Holopainen, J.K.: Variation in needle terpenoids among *Pinus sylvestris* L. (Pinaceae) provenances from Turkey. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 35: 652-661, 2007.
- Seo, H.S., Song, J.T., Cheong, J.J., Lee, Y.H., Lee, Y.W., Hwang, I., Lee, J.S., Choi, Y.D.: Jasmonic acid carboxyl methyltransferase: a key enzyme for jasmonate-regulated plant responses. - Proc.Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 98: 4788-4793, 2001.
- Siskos, E.P., Mazomenos, B.E., Konstantopoulou, M.A: Isolation and identification of insecticidal components from *Citrus aurantium* fruit peel extract. J. Agric. Food Chem. 56: 5577-5581, 2008.
- Smith, D.L., Krikorian, A.D.: Release of somatic embryogenic potential from excised zygotic embryos of carrot and maintenance of proembryonic cultures in hormone-free medium. -Amer. J. Bot. 76: 1832-1843, 1989.
- Smith D.L, Krikorian A.D.: Somatic embryogenesis of carrot in hormone-free medium: external pH control over morphogenesis. Am. J. Bot. **77**: 1634-1647, 1990.
- Sommer, C.: Über das Umbelliferon. Arch. Pharm. 148: 1-17, 1859.
- Späth, E., Pesta, O.: Über natürliche Cumarine, XI. Mitteil.: Die Konstitution des Angelicins (aus Angelica archangelica L.). - Ber. deut. chem. Ges. 67: 853-857, 1934.
- Späth, E., Vierhapper, F.: Xanthotoxol, ein neuer Naturstoff aus Semen Angelicae, und über die Totalsynthese von Xanthotoxol und Imperatorin (XXIII. Mitteilung über natürliche Cumarine). - Ber. Dtsch. Chem Ges.**70**: 248-250, 1937.
- Späth, E., Vierhapper, F.: Über die Konstitution des Umbelliprenins (XXXIX. Mitteilung über natürliche Cumarine). Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. **71**: 1667-1672, 1938.
- Späth, E., Vierhapper, F.: Über die Cumarine der Droge Semen Angelicae (XL. Mitteilung über natürliche Cumarine). Monatsh. Chem. 72: 179-189, 1939.
- Stanjek, V., Herhaus, C., Ritgen, U., Boland, W., Stadler, E.: Changes in the leaf surface chemistry of *Apium graveolens* stimulated by jasmonic acid and perceived by a specialist insect. – Helv.Chim. Acta, 80: 1408-1420, 1997.
- Stark, S., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Holappa, E., Mikkola, K., Nikula, A.: Concentrations of foliar quercetin in natural populations of white birch (*Betula pubescens*) increase with latitude. - J. Chem. Ecol. 34: 1382-1391, 2008.

- Steck, W., Bailey, B.K.: Leaf coumarins of *Angelica archangelica*. Can. J. Chem. **47**: 2425-2430, 1969.
- Steward, F.C., Mapes, M.O., Mears, K.: Growth and organized development of cultured cells. II. Organization in cultures grown from freely suspended cells. - Amer. J. Bot. 45: 705-709, 1958.
- Sun, H., Jakupovic, J.: Further Heraclenol Derivatives from *Angelica archangelica*. Pharmazie 41: 888-889, 1986.
- Tammisola, J., Ojamo, H., Kauppinen, V.: Multigradient method for optimization of slow biotechnological processes. - Biotechn. Bioeng. 42: 1301-1310, 1993.
- Taskinen, J., Nykänen, L.: Chemical composition of Angelica root oil. Acta Chem. Scand. 29: 757-764, 1975.
- Tawfik, A.A., Noga, G.: Cumin regeneration from seedling derived embryogenic callus in response to amended kinetin. - Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 69: 35-40, 2002.
- Toivonen, L., Ojala, M., Kauppinen, V.: Studies of optimization of growth and indole alkaloid production by hairy root cultures of *Catharanthus roseus*. - Biotechn. Bioeng. **37**: 673-680, 1991.
- Trumble, J.T., Millar, J.G., Ott, D.E., Carson, W.C.: Seasonal patterns and pesticidal effects on the phototoxic linear furanocoumarins in celery, *Apium graveolens* L. - J Agric. Food Chem. 40: 1501-1506, 1992.
- Tsay, H.S., Huang, H.L.: Somatic embryo formation and germination from immature embryoderived suspension-cultured cells of *Angelica sinensis* (Oliv.) Diels. - Plant Cell Rep. 17: 670-674, 1998.
- Tuominen, U., Toivonen, L., Kauppinen, V., Markkanen, P., Björk, L.: Studies of growth and cardenolide production of *Digitalis lanata* tissue cultures. - Biotechn. Bioeng. 33: 558-562, 1989.
- Törnquist, K. and Vuorela, H.: The furanocoumarin columbianadin inhibits depolarization induced Ca²⁺ uptake in rat pituitary GH₃ cells. Planta Med. **56**: 127-129, 1990.
- Uozumi, N., Kohketsu, K., Kondo, O., Honda, H., Kobayashi, T.: Fed-batch culture of hairy root using fructose as a carbon source. J. Ferm. Bioeng. **72**: 457-460, 1991.
- Vane, J.R., Mitchell, J.A., Appleton. I., Tomlinson, A., Bishop-Bailey, D., Croxtall, J., Willoughby, D.A.: Inducible isoforms of cyclooxygenase and nitric-oxide synthase in inflammation. -Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 91: 2046-2050, 1994.
- Verma, D.C., Dougall, D.K.: Influence of carbohydrates on quantitative aspects of growth and embryo formation in wild carrot suspension. - Plant Physiol. 59: 81–85, 1977.

- Verpoorte, R., Contin, A., Memelink, J.: Biotechnology for production of plant secondary metabolites. - Phytochem. Rev. 1: 12-25, 2002.
- Vishwapaul, Kaul, V.K., Weyerstahl, P.: Further evidence for the revised structure of angelicin. -Fitoterapia **58**: 129-132, 1987.
- Vuorela, H., Törnquist, K., Sticher, O. and Hiltunen, R.: Effects of furocoumarins in *Peucedanum palustre* on prolactin release from GH₃ rat pituitary cells. Acta Pharm. Fenn. 167-174, 1988.
- Vuorela, H.: Chemical and biological study on coumarins in *Peucedanum palustre* roots. Thesis. J-Paino Ky, Helsinki 1988.
- Vuorela, H., Erdelmeyer, C.A.J., Nyiredy, Sz., Dallenbach-Tölke, K., Anklin, K., Hiltunen, R., Sticher, O.: Isobyakangelicin angelate, a novel furocoumarin from *Peucedanum palustre*. -Planta Med. 54: 538-542, 1988.
- Vuorela, H, Dallenbach-Tölke, K., Nyiredy, Sz., Hiltunen, R., Sticher, O.: HPLC analysis of the main coumarins from *Peucedanum palustre*. - Planta Med. 55: 181-184. 1989.
- Vuorela, P., Oksman-Caldentey, K.M., Lipponen, J., Hiltunen, R.: Spontaneous somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration from root cultures of *Peucedanum palustre*. - Plant Cell Rep. 12: 453-456, 1993.
- Wagner, H., Bladt, S., Zgaiski, E.M.: Plant Drug Analysis. Pp. 145-160. Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg - New York - Tokyo 1984.
- Wakhlu, A.K., Sharma, R.K.: Somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration in *Heracleum candicans* Wall. Plant Cell Rep. 17: 866-869, 1998.
- Waris H: A striking morphogenetic effect of amino acid in seed plant. Suom. Kemistilehti **30B**: 121, 1957.
- Weinert, E.: Die Taxonomische Stellung und das Areal von Angelica archangelica L. und A. lucidaL. Feddes Repert. 84: 303-314, 1973.
- Wen, Z., Berenbaum, M.R., Schuler, M.A.: Inhibition of CYP6B1-mediated detoxification of xanthotoxin by plant allelochemicals in the black swallowtail (*Papilio polyxenes*). - J. Chem. Ecol. **32**: 507-522, 2006.
- Widelski, J., Popova, M., Graikou, K., Glowniak, K., Chinou, I.: Coumarins from *Angelica lucida* L. - Antibacterial Activities Molecules 14: 2729-2734, 2009.
- Williams, L., Collin, H.A.: Embryogenesis and plantlet formation in tissue cultures of celery. -Ann. Bot. 40: 325-332, 1976.
- Zangerl, A.R., Berenbaum, M.R., Levine, E.: Genetic control of seed chemistry and morphology in wild parsnip (*Pastinaca sativa*). - J. Hered. 80: 404-407, 1989.

- Zangerl, A.R., Berenbaum, M.R.: Furanocoumarin induction in wild parsnip: Genetics and populational variation. Ecology **71**: 1933-1940, 1990.
- Zeid, A.H.S.A.: Stress metabolites from *Corchorus olitorius* L. leaves in response to certain stress agents. - Food Chem. 76: 187-195, 2002.
- Zhang, S.Y., Cheng, K.C: Callus induction and plantlet regeneration from several organs of *Angelica sinensis* (Oliv.) Diels. Acta Bot. Sin. **24**: 512–518, 1982.
- Zobel, A.M., Brown, S.A. Determination of furanocoumarins on the leaf surface of *Ruta graveolens* with an improved extraction technique. J. Nat. Prod. **51**: 941-946, 1988.
- Zobel, A.M., Brown, S.A..: Dermatitis-inducing furanocoumarins on leaf surfaces of eight species of rutaceous and umbelliferous plants. J Chem. Ecol. **16**: 693-700, 1990A.
- Zobel, A.M., Brown, S.A.: Seasonal changes of furanocoumarin concentrations in leaves of *Heracleum lanatum*. - J. Chem. Ecol. 16: 1623-1634, 1990B.
- Zobel, A.M., Brown, S.A.: Psoralens on the surface of seeds of Rutaceae and fruits of Umbelliferae and Leguminosae. - Can. J. Bot. 69: 485-488, 1991.
- Zobel, A.M., Brown, S.A., Nighswander, J.E.: Effect of simulated acid and salt sprays on furanocoumarin concentrations on the *Ruta graveolens* leaf surface. - Ann. Bot. 67: 213-218, 1991A.
- Zobel, A.M., Wang, J., March, R.E., Brown, S.A.: Identification of eight coumarins occurring with psoralen, xanthotoxin, and bergapten on leaf surfaces. - J. Chem. Ecol. 17: 1859-1869, 1991B.
- Zschocke, S., Liu, J.H., Stuppner, H., Bauer, R.: Comparative study of roots of *Angelica sinensis* and related Umbelliferous drugs by thin layer chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography and liquid chromatography-masspectrometry. Phytochem. Anal. **9**: 283-290, 1998.